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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), I would like to present the annual results of Kong Sun Holdings Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2013.

During the year of 2013, the worldwide economies were full of uncertainties. It was caused by European debt crisis and 
global weak demand for consumables all dealt a blow to the market. Although the Group recorded a slightly increase in 
sales, the Group is still facing a high pressure on the production costs in its life-like plants business. The Group remains 
optimistic about the prospect of the property market in the medium and long term. It is expected that revenue from the 
properties investment would have a healthy growth in the coming future.

Loss attributable to shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2013 has been reduced from approximately 
HK$10,901,000 to approximately HK$7,786,000. Loss per share decreased to HK0.51 cents as compared to HK1.23 cents in 
the previous year. Further reduction in deficit and possible return to profitability will be our next target for the years to 
come.

The major investments of the Group remain in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group will continue to focus on its existing 
businesses and looking forward for strategic investment opportunities with an aim to further strengthen the asset base 
and/or to generate stable income to the Group. Environmental issues and haze pollutions have been getting severer in 
recent years, urging China government to enhance the support to the investment on energy conservation, emission 
reduction and energy resource’s structural optimization. It is a historical development opportunity for new energy and clean 
technologies now.

Especially, at the solar energy sector, with many years of development, the business model has become more mature and 
the risks have become more controllable for the utility scale solar power projects, making the business more investable. To 
take this market opportunity, we are actively developing our clean energy business and will selectively invest in the projects 
with high and stable returns. Meanwhile, we might also develop our business and find opportunities in off-grid solar 
business, distributed solar energy business, and more broadly, in wind energy, energy management, and smart grid 
businesses that could bring high return to our share holders.

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to extend my sincere thanks to all our business partners, shareholders, directors 
and staff for their support and contribution to the Group during the past year. With their continued trust and support, we 
are confident that the Group will overcome any difficulties that may come ahead and emerge all the strongest.

YU PAK YAN, PETER
Chairman

Hong Kong
24 March 2014
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The Company’s principal activity continued to be investment holding whilst its subsidiaries are mainly engaged in properties 
investment, manufacturing and sale of life-like plants and securities investment.

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the turnover of the Group amounted to approximately HK$9,229,000. Loss 
attributable to shareholders has decreased to approximately HK$7,786,000 from approximately HK$10,901,000 recorded in 
last year. The decrease of loss for the year was mainly contributed by (i) an absence of the loss on written off of property, 
plant and equipment and inventories made in last year; (ii) an absence of the impairment loss recognised in respect of 
goodwill and property, plant and equipment made in last year; (iii) a reduction of gain on disposal of available-for-sale 
financial assets; and (iv) a reduction of gain on fair value changes of investment properties.

PROPERTIES INVESTMENT

The Group’s properties investment business had contributed approximately HK$1,246,000 to the total revenue of the Group 
for the year ended 31 December 2013. The turnover has reduced by about HK$474,000 due to investment properties not 
fully occupied during the year. The imposition of stamp duties charges by HKSAR Government, such as buyers’ stamp duty, 
special stamp duty and double stamp duty, during the year to curb speculation, the property market has started to cool 
down and show signs of stabilisation. The Group’s investment properties were valued at approximately HK$95,900,000 as at 
31 December 2013, which represented an increment of approximately HK$3,100,000 as compared to last year. It is 
expected that the revenue from the properties investment business would have a steady growth in the coming future.

LIFE-LIKE PLANTS BUSINESS

The life-like plants business had contributed approximately HK$7,983,000 to the total revenue of the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2013. The turnover of the segment increased by approximately HK$1,143,000 when compared with 
last year. Uncertainties of the United States economy and the relapse of the European debt crisis have generated concerns 
over the global economies which are likely to influence the life-like plants business. It will be challenging in the forthcoming 
year for the Group’s export to these regions. The Group will continue to closely monitor our business operations and 
enhance its product differentiation to maintain its competitiveness in the industry.

SECURITIES INVESTMENT

As at 31 December 2013, the Group managed a portfolio of investments in capital market with fair value of approximately 
HK$43,178,000. The Group will be watchful on market developments and will continue to be prudent in managing its 
investment portfolio with a continuing focus on improving overall asset quality.
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PROSPECTS

The challenging market conditions will continue to affect the business environment, it is expected that the global market 
remains volatile in the forthcoming year. Therefore, it is important for the Group to carry on the businesses in a cautious 
pace.

The Group has undertaken a placing of shares during the year which further solid the working capital and financial position 
of the Group. The Group is also actively looking for new investment and business opportunities to deliver the greatest 
return to shareholders.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
 
As at 31 December 2013, the Group has shareholders’ equity of approximately HK$289,449,000 and the share capital of the 
Company had the following changes:

On 3 October 2013, 293,700,000 ordinary shares of par value HK$0.01 each were issued at the placing price of HK$0.086 per 
placing share.

INVESTMENT POSITION AND PLANNING

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group spent approximately HK$2,611,000 for acquisition of fixed assets.

The Group has invested in shares of certain companies that are traded over The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 
“Stock Exchange”). During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group has acquired and disposed of equity securities of 
a company listed on the Stock Exchange. As at 31 December 2013, the Group held long-term and short-term investments 
with fair value of approximately HK$42,105,000 and HK$1,073,000 respectively.

Saved as disclosed above, the Group did not have any other significant investment and there is no other material 
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and associated company during the year.

CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2013, the Group’s bank deposits in the amount of approximately HK$136,000 (31 December 2012: 
approximately HK$1,161,000) had been pledged to banks for the requirement of the customs authorities of the PRC.

As at 31 December 2013, the Group has pledged land and buildings with net book value of approximately HK$13,237,000 (31 
December 2012: approximately HK$13,752,000) to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.

Details of the contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2013 are set out in Note 43 to the financial statements.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2013, the Group has approximately 125 employees located in Hong Kong and the PRC. They are 
remunerated according to the nature of the job market trends, with build-in-merit components incorporated in annual 
review to reward and motivate individual performance.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2013, the total shareholders fund of the Group amounted to approximately HK$289,449,000 (2012: 
HK$259,093,000), total assets of approximately HK$320,647,000 (2012: HK$289,020,000), current liabilities of approximately 
HK$22,741,000 (2012: HK$22,182,000) and non-current liabilities of approximately HK$8,457,000 (2012: HK$7,745,000).

The debt ratio (based on the total liabilities over the equity) of the Group decreased from the ratio of 0.12 as at 31 
December 2012 to 0.11 as at 31 December 2013.

As at 31 December 2013, the Group has bank borrowing of approximately HK$7,920,000 which bears interest ranging from 
1.375% to 2% per annum below prime rate or 2.5% per annum over 1 month Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate, whichever 
is lower, and is repayable on demand. The Group also has a short-term interest-free loan of RMB1,200,000 (approximately 
HK$1,537,000) borrowed from an independent third party. The cash and bank balances of the Group at the end of the 
reporting period amounted to approximately HK$111,841,000. The gearing ratio, as a ratio of total borrowings over total 
assets was 0.03.

FOREIGN ExCHANGE ExPOSURE AND TREASURY POLICIES

The Group’s business operation and investments are in Hong Kong and the PRC, most of the assets, liabilities and 
transactions of the Group are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. The Group does not enter into any 
instruments on the foreign exchange exposure. The Group will closely monitor exchange rate movement and will take 
appropriate activities to reduce the exchange risk.
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ExECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter
aged 63, joined the Group on 1 August 2008 and is also the director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. On 30 
September 2013, Mr. Yu was appointed as the chairman of the Board. Mr. Yu has over 30 years of experience in real estate 
and financial services industries. Mr. Yu has a Bachelor degree in Management from Youngstown State University in Ohio, 
USA and a Master of Science degree in Financial Services from American College in Pennsylvania, USA. Mr. Yu is a member 
of the Certified Commercial Investment Member Institute and was the first Chinese-American elected to the board of the 
San Francisco Association of Realtors. Mr. Yu worked in Pacific Union Real Estate Company in the United States from 1980–
1995 and held senior positions in MetLife and New York Life Insurance Company in managing Asian customers in North 
America. Mr. Yu is currently an independent non-executive director of Kingston Financial Group Limited (stock code: 1031), 
China Sandi Holdings Limited (stock code: 910) and Noble Century Investment Holdings Limited (stock code: 2322). Mr. Yu 
was an independent non-executive director of M Dream Inworld Limited (stock code: 8100), from July 2010 to January 2014.

Mr. Chang Hoi Nam
aged 35, joined the Group on 30 September 2013 and is also the director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chang 
obtained a bachelor degree in business management from the University of New Brunswick of Canada in September 2000. 
Mr. Chang is currently an executive director and the chief executive officer of China Assurance Finance Group Limited 
(stock code: 8090). Mr. Chang was an independent non-executive director of Sincere Watch (Hong Kong) Limited (stock 
code: 444) from June 2012 to September 2012.

Mr. Liu Wen Ping
aged 36, joined the Group on 21 March 2014. Mr. Liu received his Ph.D. degree from Shanghai Institute of Microsystem and 
Information Technology, Chinese Academy of Sciences and has a Bachelor degree in Physics from Peking University. Mr. 
Liu has worked in financial industries in China for 6 years, and has 8 years experiences in solar industry. Mr. Liu is currently 
a founder and chief executive officer of 瀾晶投資諮詢(上海)有限公司 (Sapphire Investment Consulting Shanghai Limited).

INDEPENDENT NON-ExECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lau Man Tak
aged 44, joined the Group on 1 September 2008 and is the chairman of the audit committee and the member of the 
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Lau graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic 
University with a Bachelor degree in Accountancy. Mr. Lau has more than 15 years of finance, accounting and auditing 
experiences. Mr. Lau is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lau is also a 
member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute and admitted as a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of 
Directors in August 2012. Mr. Lau is currently an executive director and Chairman of Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited 
(stock code: 8148). Mr. Lau is also an independent non-executive director of Kingston Financial Group Limited (stock code: 
1031), Climax International Company Limited (stock code: 439), AMCO United Holding Limited (stock code: 630) and Sincere 
Watch (Hong Kong) Limited (stock code: 444). Mr. Lau was also an executive director and chief financial officer of China 
Sandi Holdings Limited (stock code: 910) from April 2010 to September 2012 and an executive director of Warderly 
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 607) from December 2007 to January 2010.
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Mr. Man Kwok Leung
aged 67, joined the Group on 2 June 2009 and is the chairman of the nomination committee and is the member of the audit 
committee and remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Man is a solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong and a civil 
celebrant of marriages. Mr. Man has extensive experience in the legal practice. Mr. Man had been appointed by Xinhua 
News Agency as a district advisor from 1995 to 1997. Mr. Man is currently appointed as a director of Apleichau Kai Fong 
Primary School, the deputy chairman of Apleichau Kai Fong Welfare Association, the secretary of Apleichau Promotion of 
Tourism Association and the honorary legal advisor of Junior Police Officers’ Association. Mr. Man is currently an 
independent non-executive director of Climax International Company Limited (stock code: 439), Guocang Group Limited 
(formerly known as Hua Yi Copper Holdings Limited) (stock code: 559) and Noble Century Investment Holdings Limited 
(stock code: 2322). Mr. Man was an independent non-executive director of Hong Kong Life Sciences and Technologies 
Group Limited (stock code: 8085) from November 2009 to September 2012.

Dr. Wong Yun Kuen
aged 56, joined the Company since 20 April 2007 and is the chairman of the remuneration committee and the member of 
the audit committee and nomination committee of the Company. Dr. Wong received his Ph.D. degree from Harvard 
University, and was “Distinguished Visiting Scholar” at the Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania. Dr. Wong has 
worked in financial industries in the United States and Hong Kong for many years, and has considerable experience in 
corporate finance, investment and derivative products. Dr. Wong is a member of the Hong Kong Securities Institute. Dr. 
Wong is an executive director of UBA Investments Limited (stock code: 768). Dr. Wong is also an independent non-executive 
director of Harmony Asset Limited (stock code: 428), Bauhaus International (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 483), Kaisun 
Energy Group Limited (stock code: 8203), China Yunnan Tin Minerals Group Company Limited (stock code: 263), Guocang 
Group Limited (formerly known as Hua Yi Copper Holdings Limited) (stock code: 559), Kingston Financial Group Limited 
(stock code: 1031), Climax International Company Limited (stock code: 439), China Sandi Holdings Limited (stock code: 910), 
New Island Printing Holdings Limited (stock code: 377) and Sincere Watch (Hong Kong) Limited (stock code: 444).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Chan Siu Mat
aged 31, is the Company secretary and is responsible for the accounts and company secretarial functions of the Group. Ms. 
Chan graduated from the City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree in Accountancy and is a member of the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She joined the Group in April 2012 and has over 7 years of working 
experiences in the field of accounting, auditing and financial management.
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The directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2013.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are properties investment, 
manufacturing and sale of life-like plants and securities investment.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 95.6% of the Group’s total purchases. The 
largest supplier accounted for approximately 28.0% of the Group’s total purchases.

During the year, the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 77.9% of the Group’s total sales. The 
largest customer accounted for approximately 27.7% of the Group’s total sales.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders of the Company, which to the knowledge of the directors, own 
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital has a beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers or 
customers.

RESULTS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2013 and the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date 
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 22 to 26.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2013.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity on page 27 and other details of the reserves of the Company are set out in Note 36 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2013, the Company had no reserves available for distribution. However, the Company’s share premium 
account, in the amount of approximately HK$328,704,000 may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

FIxED ASSETS

Details of movements during the year in the investment properties, property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease 
payments of the Group are set out in Notes 19, 20 and 21 to the financial statements respectively.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from 
the audited financial statements, reclassified and restated as appropriate, is set out on page 102. This summary does not 
form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share options during the year are set out in respective Notes 35 
and 37 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association and there was no restriction 
against such rights under the laws of Hong Kong.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during 
the year.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Yu Pak Yan, Peter (Chairman)
Chang Hoi Nam — appointed on 30 September 2013
Chan Chi Yuen — resigned on 30 September 2013
Liu Wen Ping — appointed on 21 March 2014

Independent Non-executive Directors
Lau Man Tak
Man Kwok Leung
Wong Yun Kuen

In accordance with article 77 of the Company’s articles of association, Mr. Chang Hoi Nam and Mr. Liu Wen Ping will retire 
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

In accordance with articles 81 to 84 of the Company’s articles of association, Mr. Man Kwok Leung and Dr. Wong Yun Kuen 
will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company 
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory 
compensation.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the directors and senior management of the Company are set out on pages 7 to 8.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, its holding company, or any of its 
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether 
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

None of the directors or supervisors or management shareholders has any interest in business which competes or may 
compete with the business of the Group under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the 
“Listing Rules”) during the year ended 31 December 2013.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF ExECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

At 31 December 2013, none of the directors or chief executives of the Company or their associates had any interest or 
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations, as 
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures 
Ordinance (the “SFO”), or as recorded in the register to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as notified to the Company 
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF ExECUTIVES’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR 
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the directors 
or chief executives of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the 
Company or any other body corporate. None of the directors or chief executives or their spouses or children under 18 
years of age, had any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had exercised any such right during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2013, no natural person or any entity had, or was deemed to have, interests or short positions in the 
shares or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provision 
of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who was directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of 
any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group, nor 
there was any substantial shareholder whose detail was required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 
Company or its subsidiaries were entered into or existed during the year.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, except for those disclosed in Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group had no 
transactions with its related parties.

The Directors conducted review of the related party transactions of the Group during the year and were not aware any 
transaction which would need to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Listing 
Rules.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the directors as at the date of 
this report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee has three independent non-executive directors of the Company. The audit committee has reviewed 
with the management the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal controls and 
financial report matters including a review of the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2013.

AUDITOR

A resolution for the re-appointment of SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited as auditor of the Group will be proposed at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Yu Pak Yan, Peter
Chairman

Hong Kong
24 March 2014
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The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board acknowledges the importance of the highest standards of corporate governance as the Board believes that 
effective corporate governance practices are fundamental to enhancing the shareholders’ value and safeguarding interest 
of the shareholders. Accordingly, the Company has adopted sound corporate governance principles that emphasis an 
effective internal control and accountability to all shareholders.

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report 
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the “CG Code”) during the year under review, save for the deviation from 
code provisions A.2.1 and A.4.1 which are explained in the relevant paragraph in this report. The Company periodically 
reviews its corporate governance practices to ensure that these continue to meet the requirements of the CG Code.

Under the code provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be 
performed by the same individual. The company does not have any officer with the title of “chief executive officer”. Mr. Yu 
Pak Yan, Peter, who acts as the chairman of the Company, is also responsible for overseeing the general operations of the 
Group. The Board will meet regularly to consider major matters affecting the operations of the Group. The Board considers 
that this structure will not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board and the management of the 
Company. The roles of the respective executive directors and senior management who are in charge of different functions 
complement the role of the chairman and chief executive officer. The Board believes that this structure is conducive to 
strong and consistent leadership enabling the Group to operate efficiently.

Under the code provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. 
However, none of the existing independent non-executive directors of the Company is appointed for specific terms but they 
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with 
the articles of association of the Company, which stipulates that one-third of the directors for the time being, or, if their 
number is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from the office by 
rotation at each annual general meeting. As such, the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to 
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less exacting than those in the CG Code in this respect.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities
The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company and oversees the Group’s business, strategies, 
decisions and performances. The senior management was delegated the authority and responsibilities by the Board of the 
day-to-day management and operations of the Group. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant 
transactions entered into by the senior management.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information in relation to the Company as well as the advices and 
services of the company secretary, if and when required, with a view ensuring that the Board procedures and all applicable 
rules and regulations are followed.

There are established procedures for directors to seek independent professional advices for them to discharge their duties 
and responsibilities, where appropriate at the Company’s expenses.

Composition
The Board currently comprises three executive directors and three independent non-executive directors from different 
business and professional fields. The directors, including independent non-executive directors, have brought a wide 
spectrum of valuable business and professional expertise, experiences and independent judgment to the Board for its 
efficient and effective delivery of the Board function.

The Board of the Company comprises the following directors:

Executive Directors:
Yu Pak Yan, Peter
Chang Hoi Nam
Liu Wen Ping

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Lau Man Tak (Chairman of audit committee and member of remuneration and nomination committee)
Man Kwok Leung (Chairman of nomination committee and member of audit and remuneration committee)
Wong Yun Kuen (Chairman of remuneration committee and member of audit and nomination committee)

The profiles of each director are set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” section in this 
annual report.

Throughout the year and up to the date of this report, the Company has complied with the requirements under Rules 3.10(1) 
and (2) of the Listing Rules. It requires that at least one of the independent non-executive directors must have appropriate 
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise. The Company has received written 
annual confirmation from each independent non-executive director of their independence pursuant to the requirements of 
rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all independent non-executive directors to be independence in 
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Diversity Policy
The Group adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) on 2 September 2013. A summary of this policy, 
together with the measureable objectives set for implementing this Policy, and the progress made towards achieving those 
objectives are disclosed as below.

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy
The Company recognised and embraced the benefits of having a diverse Board to the quality of its performance. The Board 
Diversity Policy aimed to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. In designing the Board’s composition, 
Board diversity has been considered from a numbers of measurable aspects including gender, age, ethnicity, knowledge 
and length of services. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against 
objective criteria, having due regards for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Measurable Objectives
Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural 
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of services. The ultimate 
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

Implementation and Monitoring
The Nomination Committee reviewed the Board’s composition under diversified perspectives, and monitored the 
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy annually.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises six directors. Three of them are independent non-executive directors, 
thereby promoting critical review and control of the management process. The Board is also characterised by significant 
diversity, whether considered in terms of age, length of services, professional background and skills.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness and considered that the 
Group achieved the Board Diversity Policy since 2 September 2013.

Induction for Directors
Each newly appointed director will receive comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her 
appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has proper understanding of the business and operations of the Group and that 
he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory 
requirements.

Directors’ Continuous Training and Development
Directors should participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This 
is to ensure that their contribution into the Board remains informed and relevant.

All directors have participated in continuous professional development by attending seminars and/or studying materials 
relevant to director’s duties and responsibility and provided a record of training they received for the financial year ended 
31 December 2013 to the Company.

Note: Mr. Liu Wen Ping was newly appointed on 21 March 2014. Accordingly, his training records have not been included.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board, Board Committee Meetings and Shareholders Meeting
Number of meetings and Directors’ attendance
Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals for reviewing and approving 
the financial and operating performance, and considering and approving the overall strategies and policies of the Company. 
The Board met 10 times during the year ended 31 December 2013.

Agenda and Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information are normally sent to all directors 
before each Board meeting to keep the directors apprised to the latest developments and financial position of the Company 
and to enable them to make informed decisions. All directors are given the opportunity to include matters in the agenda for 
regular Board meetings. The Board and each director also have separate and independent access to senior management 
whenever necessary.

Minutes of all Board meetings with sufficient details of matters considered and decisions reached are kept by the secretary 
of the meetings and are open for inspection by the directors. The attendance of individual members of the Board, other 
board committees meetings and shareholders’ meeting during the year ended 31 December 2013 is set out in the table 
below:

Meetings attended/Eligible to attend
Board of 

Directors
Audit 

Committee
Remuneration 

Committee
Nomination 
Committee

Shareholders
Meeting

Executive directors
Yu Pak Yan, Peter 10/10 NA NA NA 1/1
Chang Hoi Nam (appointed on September 2013) 4/4 NA NA NA NA
Chan Chi Yuen (resigned on September 2013) 7/7 NA NA NA 1/1

Independent non-executive directors
Lau Man Tak 10/10 2/2 2/2 2/2 1/1
Man Kwok Leung 10/10 2/2 2/2 2/2 1/1
Wong Yun Kuen 10/10 2/2 2/2 2/2 1/1

Note: Mr. Liu Wen Ping was appointed as executive director on 21 March 2014. Accordingly, he has not attended any meeting held in 2013.

Board Committees
The Board has established three committees, namely the remuneration committee, the nomination committee and the 
audit committee for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All board committees of the Company are 
established with defined written terms of reference.

The majority of the members of each board committees are independent non-executive directors. The board committees 
are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent 
professional advices in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expenses.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board, Board Committee Meetings and Shareholders Meeting (continued)
Remuneration Committee
The remuneration committee comprises three independent non-executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Lau Man 
Tak, Mr. Man Kwok Leung and Dr. Wong Yun Kuen. Dr. Wong Yun Kuen is the chairman of the remuneration committee.

The primary objectives of the remuneration committee include making recommendations on and approving the 
remuneration policy and structure and remuneration packages of the executive directors and senior management. In 2013 
and up to the date of this report, the remuneration committee established transparent procedures for developing such 
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no director or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her 
own remuneration, which remuneration will be determined by reference to the performance of the individual and the 
Company as well as market practice and conditions.

Nomination Committee
The nomination committee has been established by the Company in the Board meeting held on 26 March 2012 in 
compliance with the requirement of the CG Code. The nomination committee currently comprises three members, being 
three independent non-executive directors including Mr. Man Kwok Leung, Mr. Lau Man Tak and Dr. Wong Yun Kuen. Mr. 
Man Kwok Leung is the chairman of the nomination committee. The written terms of reference of the nomination 
committee which have been revised on 2 September 2013 to adopt the Board Diversity Policy are available on both the 
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The principal responsibilities of the nomination committee are regular review of the Board composition, identifying and 
nominating suitable candidates as Board members, assessment of the independence of the independent non-executive 
directors and Board evaluation. During the period of 2013 and up to date of this report, the nomination committee reviewed 
the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience and length of service) of the Board and 
make recommendations on proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy.

Audit Committee
The audit committee comprises three independent non-executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Lau Man Tak, Mr. 
Man Kwok Leung and Dr. Wong Yun Kuen. Mr. Lau Man Tak is the chairman of the audit committee. None of the members 
of the audit committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing external auditor.

The main duties of the audit committee include the followings:

(a) To review the financial statements and reports and consider any significant or unusual items raised by the qualified 
accountant, compliance officer (if any), internal auditor (if any) or external auditor before submission to the Board.

(b) To review the relationship with the external auditors by reference to the work performed by the auditor, their fees 
and terms of engagement, and make recommendation to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal 
of external auditor.

(c) To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial reporting system, internal control system and 
risk management system and associated procedures.

The audit committee held two meetings during the year ended 31 December 2013 to review the financial results and report 
of the Company with the external auditor.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the Year are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual remuneration of the members of the senior management 
(other than the Directors) whose particulars are contained in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and 
Senior Management” in this annual report for the Year by band is set out below:

Remuneration band (in HK$) 
Number of 
individuals

Nil to 1,000,000 1

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 
to the Listing Rules as the Company’s code of conduct for dealings in securities of the Company by directors. Having made 
specific enquiry of the directors, the directors confirmed that they have complied with the code throughout the year ended 
31 December 2013.

RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Group and have adopted the 
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and compiled with the requirements of Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards which also include Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. As at 31 
December 2013, the directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast 
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The accounting systems and internal control of the Company are designed to prevent any misappropriation of the 
Company’s assets, any unauthorised transactions as well as to ensure the accuracy of the accounting records and the true 
and fairness of the financial statements.

The Board also acknowledges its responsibility to present a balanced, clear and understandable assessment in the 
Company’s financial reports, other inside information announcements and other financial disclosures required under Listing 
Rules, and reports to the regulators as well as to information required to be disclosed pursuant to statutory requirements.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s independent auditor are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on 
pages 20 to 21.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board, recognising its overall responsibility in ensuring the system of internal controls of the Company and for 
reviewing its effectiveness, is committed to implement an effective and sound internal control system to safeguard the 
interests of shareholders and the assets of the Group.

The Board is responsible for establishing the Group’s internal control framework, covering all material controls including 
financial, operational and compliance controls. The internal control framework also provides for identification and 
management of risk. The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness and adequacy of the internal control system of 
the Group and has reached the conclusion that the Group’s internal control system was in place and effective.
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ExTERNAL AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the remuneration in respect of the services rendered by the Group’s external 
auditor is set out as follows:

Services rendered for the Group
SHINEWING (HK) 

CPA Limited
HK$’000

Audit services 700
Non-audit services (including taxation services) 69

 

Total 769
 

THE SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS TO CONVENE AN ExTRAORDINARY MEETING 
AND PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL 
MEETINGS BY SHAREHOLDERS

Pursuant to Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (or Section 113 of the 
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) before the new 
Companies Ordinance comes into effective on 3 March 2014), extraordinary general meetings of the Company shall be 
convened on requisition, as provided by, or in default, may be convened by the requisitionists.

PROCEDURES BY WHICH ENQUIRIES MAY BE PUT TO THE BOARD

Enquiries of shareholders can be sent to the Company by post to the Company’s Hong Kong head office at Unit 905, 9th 
Floor, Wings Building, 110–116 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong. Shareholders’ enquiries and concerns, where 
appropriate, will be forwarded to and answered by the Board.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company follows a policy of disclosing relevant information to shareholders in a timely manner. Annual and interim 
reports offer comprehensive operational and financial performance information to shareholders and the annual general 
meeting of the Company provides a forum for shareholders to exchange views directly with the Board. The Company 
regards the annual general meeting of the Company as an important event and all directors, senior management and 
external auditors make an effort to attend the annual general meeting of the Company to address shareholders’ queries. All 
the shareholders of the Company are given a minimum of 20 clear business days’ notice of the date and venue of the 
annual general meeting of the Company. The Company supports the code’s principle to encourage shareholders’ 
participation. The Company has also complied with the requirements concerning voting by poll under the Listing Rules. 
Details of the poll voting procedures and the rights of shareholders to demand a poll are included in circulars to 
shareholders of the Company dispatched by the Company where applicable.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS

To promote the relationship between the Company and investor and to enhance the transparency of the operation of the 
enterprise, the Board is committed to provide clear and updated information of the Company to shareholders through the 
publication of notices, circulars, interim and annual reports.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KONG SUN HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of Kong Sun Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively 
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 22 to 101, which comprise the consolidated and the Company’s statements of 
financial position as at 31 December 2013, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely 
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 141 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We 
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as 
at 31 December 2013, and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Chan Wing Kit
Practising Certificate Number: P03224
Hong Kong

24 March 2014
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2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 7 9,229 8,560
  

Sales of life-like plants 7 7,983 6,840
Properties rental income 7 1,246 1,720

  

9,229 8,560
Cost of sales (7,337) (7,127)

  

Gross profit 1,892 1,433
Other revenue 9 3,578 3,585
Loss on fair value changes of held-for-trading investments 28 (60) (187)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale financial assets 22 (4,352) (1,500)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill 23 – (8,582)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of property, plant and equipment 20 – (4,036)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets 22 2,400 13,248
Gain on fair value changes of investment properties 19 3,100 14,734
Distribution and selling expenses (107) (458)
Administrative expenses (14,173) (20,001)
Other operating expenses – (10,143)
Finance costs 10 (320) (346)

  

Loss before tax (8,042) (12,253)
Income tax credit 11 256 1,352

  

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company 12 (7,786) (10,901)
  

Loss per share
 Basic and diluted 16 HK(0.51) cents HK(1.23) cents
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2013

 2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss for the year 12 (7,786) (10,901)
  

Other comprehensive income (expense)

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations (31) 22
Gain (loss) on fair value changes of available-for-sale financial assets 22 9,344 (313)
Reclassification to consolidated statement of profit or loss:
 Impairment loss on available-for-sale financial assets 22 4,352 1,500

  

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax 13,665 1,209
  

Total comprehensive income (expense) for the year attributable
 to owners of the Company 5,879 (9,692)
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2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
 Investment properties 19 95,900 92,800
 Property, plant and equipment 20 42,786 45,697
 Prepaid lease payments 21 13,003 13,475
 Available-for-sale financial assets 22 42,105 22,332
 Goodwill 23 – –
 Deposit paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment – 114

  

193,794 174,418
  

Current assets
 Inventories 24 1,023 1,450
 Loan receivable 25 10,000 –
 Trade receivables 26 722 694
 Other receivables, prepayments and deposits 27 1,585 4,048
 Prepaid lease payments 21 473 473
 Held-for-trading investments 28 1,073 1,133
 Pledged bank deposits 29 136 1,161
 Bank balances and cash 30 111,841 105,643

  

126,853 114,602
  

Current liabilities
 Trade payables, other payables and accrued charges 31 12,983 13,344
 Borrowings 32 9,457 8,829
 Obligations under finance leases 33 301 9

  

22,741 22,182
  

Net current assets 104,112 92,420
  

Total assets less current liabilities 297,906 266,838
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2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current liabilities
 Obligations under finance leases 33 991 23
 Deferred tax liabilities 34 7,466 7,722

  

8,457 7,745
  

Net assets 289,449 259,093
  

  
Capital and reserves
Share capital 35 17,627 14,690
Reserves 271,822 244,403

  

Total equity 289,449 259,093
  

The financial statements on pages 22 to 101 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 March 
2014 and are signed on its behalf by:

Director Director
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2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current asset
 Investments in subsidiaries 17 1,247 1,247

  

Current assets
 Other receivables, prepayments and deposits 27 235 211
 Amounts due from subsidiaries 18 237,280 215,640
 Bank balances and cash 30 103 –

  

237,618 215,851
  

Current liabilities
 Other payables and accrued charges 31 6,053 6,790
 Financial guarantee contract 43 – 259

  

6,053 7,049
  

Net current assets 231,565 208,802
  

Net assets 232,812 210,049
  

Capital and reserves
 Share capital 35 17,627 14,690
 Reserves 36 215,185 195,359

  

Total equity 232,812 210,049
  

The financial statements on pages 22 to 101 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 March 
2014 and are signed on its behalf by:

Director Director



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2013

27

Kong Sun Holdings Limited  •  Annual Report 2013

Attributable to owners of the Company  

Share
capital

Share
premium

Capital 
redemption 

reserve
Exchange 

reserve

Available-
for-sale 

investment 
revaluation 

reserve

Share
options
reserve

Warrants 
reserve

Accumulated 
losses Total

(Note 35) (Note 36) (Note 36) (Note 37) (Note 38)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2012 143,793 126,958 20 47 – 3,000 1,771 (57,907) 217,682

Loss for the year – – – – – – – (10,901) (10,901)
Exchange differences arising on
 translation of foreign operations – – – 22 – – – – 22
Loss on fair value changes of
 available-for-sale financial assets – – – – (313) – – – (313)
Reclassification to consolidated
 statement of profit or loss:
 Impairment loss on available-
  for-sale financial assets – – – – 1,500 – – – 1,500         

Total comprehensive income
 (expense) for the year – – – 22 1,187 – – (10,901) (9,692)         

Capital reduction (Note 35(b)) (136,603) 136,603 – – – – – – –
Placing of new shares (Note 35(d)) 7,500 45,000 – – – – – – 52,500
Issuing expenses in relation to
 share placing – (1,397) – – – – – – (1,397)
Warrants lapsed during the year
 (Note 38) – – – – – – (1,771) 1,771 –         

At 31 December 2012 14,690 307,164 20 69 1,187 3,000 – (67,037) 259,093
         

At 31 December 2012 and
 1 January 2013 14,690 307,164 20 69 1,187 3,000 – (67,037) 259,093

Loss for the year – – – – – – – (7,786) (7,786)
Exchange differences arising on
 translation of foreign operations – – – (31) – – – – (31)
Gain on fair value changes of
 available-for-sale financial assets – – – – 9,344 – – – 9,344
Reclassification to consolidated
 statement of profit or loss:
 Impairment loss on available-
  for-sale financial assets – – – – 4,352 – – – 4,352

         

Total comprehensive income
 (expense) for the year – – – (31) 13,696 – – (7,786) 5,879

         

Placing of new shares (Note 35(e)) 2,937 22,321 – – – – – – 25,258
Issuing expenses in relation
 to share placing – (781) – – – – – – (781)
Share option lapsed during
 the year (Note 37) – – – – – (3,000) – 3,000 –

         

At 31 December 2013 17,627 328,704 20 38 14,883 – – (71,823) 289,449
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2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax (8,042) (12,253)
Adjustments for:
 Amortisation of prepaid lease payments 473 473
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4,296 5,098
 Finance costs 320 346
 Gain on fair value changes of investment properties (3,100) (14,734)
 Gain on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets (2,400) (13,248)
 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (131) (1,772)
 Loss on written off of inventories – 6,672
 Loss on fair value changes of held-for-trading investments 60 187
 Impairment loss on available-for-sale financial assets 4,352 1,500
 Loss on written off of property, plant and equipment – 3,471
 Interest income (1,720) (1,324)
 Loan interest income (148) –
 Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill – 8,582
 Impairment loss recognised in respect of property, plant and equipment – 4,036

  

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (6,040) (12,966)
 Decrease in inventories 427 2,875
 Increase in loan receivable (10,000) –
 (Increase) decrease in trade receivables (28) 9,821
 Decrease in other receivables, prepayments and deposits 2,611 2,142
 Decrease in trade payables, other payables and accrued charges (361) (5,639)

  

Cash used in operating activities (13,391) (3,767)
Income tax paid – (10)

  

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (13,391) (3,777)
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2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale financial assets 2,400 18,960
Interest received 1,720 1,324
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment 1,360 1,129
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 1,025 –
Purchase of available-for-sale financial assets (10,429) (21,771)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (2,497) (2,890)
Additions of investment properties – (816)
Increase in deposit paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment – (114)

  

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (6,421) (4,178)
  

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
 Proceeds from placing of shares 25,258 52,500
 Increase (repayments) of obligations under finance leases 1,260 (898)
 Repayments of bank borrowings (909) (5,692)
 Payment for share issue costs (781) (1,397)
 Interest paid (320) (346)
 New bank borrowings – 9,000
 New other loan raised 1,537 –

  

NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 26,045 53,167
  

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 6,233 45,212

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 1 JANUARY 105,643 60,413

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (35) 18
  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER,
 represented by bank balances and cash 111,841 105,643
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in Hong Kong and its shares are listed on the Main Board of 
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate 
information section of the annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the principal activities of its subsidiaries (together 
with the Company referred to as the “Group”) are set out in Note 17.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional currency of the 
Company.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group and the Company have applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, which include 
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS(s)”) and Interpretations (“Int(s)”), issued by the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”).

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009–2011 Cycle issued in 2012
Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income
Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures — Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Amendments to HKFRS 10,
 HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12

Consolidated Financial Statements, Joint Arrangements and Disclosure
 of Interests in Other Entities: Transition Guidance

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011) Employee Benefits
HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) Separate Financial Statements
HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
HK(International Financial Reporting
 Interpretation Committee)-Int 20

Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine

Except as described below, the application of the new and revised HKFRSs in the current year has had no material 
impact on the Group’s and the Company’s financial performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or 
on the disclosures set out in these financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009–2011 Cycle issued in June 2012
The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009–2011 addressed a number of amendments to various HKFRSs.

The amendments to HKAS 1 clarify that an entity is required to present a third statement of financial position only 
when the retrospective application, restatement or reclassification has a material effect on the information in the 
third statement of financial position and that related notes are not required to accompany the third statement of 
financial position.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income
The amendments to HKAS 1 introduce new terminology for the statement of comprehensive income and income 
statement. Under the amendments to HKAS 1, a “statement of comprehensive income” is renamed as a “statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income” and an “income statement” is renamed as a “statement of profit 
or loss”. The amendments to HKAS 1 retain the option to present profit or loss and other comprehensive income in 
either a single statement or in two separate but consecutive statements. However, the amendments to HKAS 1 
require items of other comprehensive income to be grouped into two categories: (a) items that will not be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss; and (b) items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific 
conditions are met. Income tax on items of other comprehensive income is required to be allocated on the same 
basis — the amendments do not change the option to present items of other comprehensive income either before 
tax or net of tax. The amendments have been applied retrospectively, and hence the presentation of items of other 
comprehensive income has been modified to reflect the changes. Other than the above mentioned presentation 
changes, the application of the amendments to HKAS 1 does not result in any impact on profit or loss, other 
comprehensive income and total comprehensive income.

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures — Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities
The Group and the Company have applied the amendments to HKFRS 7 for the first time in the current year. The 
amendments to HKFRS 7 require entities to disclose information about recognised financial instruments that are set 
off in accordance with HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and recognised financial instruments that are 
subject to an enforceable master netting agreement or similar agreement, irrespective of whether the financial 
instruments are set off in accordance with HKAS 32.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 have been applied retrospectively. As the Group and the Company does not have any 
offsetting arrangements or any master netting agreements in place, the application of the amendments has had no 
material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts recognised in the financial statements
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and revised standards on consolidation, joint arrangements, associates and 
disclosures
In the current year, the Group and the Company have applied for the first time HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 
(revised 2011) together with the amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKFRS 12 regarding the transitional guidance. HKAS 27 
(revised 2011) is not applicable to the Group as it deals only with separate financial statements.

The impact of the application of these standards is set out below.

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements that deal with consolidated 
financial statements and HK (SIC)-Int 12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities. HKFRS 10 changes the definition of 
control such that an investor controls an investee if and only if it has (a) power over an investee, (b) exposure, or 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and (c) the ability to use its power over the investee 
to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.

As a result of the initial application of HKFRS 10, the directors of the Company made an assessment whether the 
Group has control over its investees at the date of initial application and concluded that the application of HKFRS 10 
does not result in any change in control conclusions.

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
HKFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and is applicable to entities that have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, 
associates and/or unconsolidated structured entities. In general, the application of HKFRS 12 has resulted in more 
extensive disclosures in the financial statements. Details are set out in Note 17.

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
The Group and the Company have applied HKFRS 13 for the first time in the current year. HKFRS 13 establishes a 
single source of guidance for fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements for both 
financial instrument items and non-financial instrument items for which other HKFRSs require or permit fair value 
measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements.

HKFRS 13 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

HKFRS 13 has been applied prospectively as of the beginning of the annual period and resulted in additional 
disclosure as set out in Note 6 to the financial statements. Other than the additional disclosures, the application of 
HKFRS 13 has not had any material impact on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
The Group and the Company have not early applied the following new and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but 
are not yet effective.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments3

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Mandatory Effective Date of HKFRS 9 and Transition Disclosures3

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12
 and HKAS 27

Investment Entities1

Amendments to HKAS19 Defined Benefit Plans — Employee Contribution2

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities1

Amendments to HKAS 36 Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets1

Amendments to HKAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting1

HK(International Financial Reporting
 Interpretation Committee)-Int 21

Levies1

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014.
3 HKFRS 9, as amended in December 2013, amended the mandatory effective date of HKFRS 9. The mandatory effective date is not specified in 

HKFRS 9 but will be determined when the outstanding phases are finalised. However, application of HKFRS 9 is permitted.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of new and revised HKFRSs will have no material impact 
on the results and the financial position of the Group and the Company.

HKFRS 9 — Financial Instruments
HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. 
HKFRS 9 amended in 2010 includes the requirements for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities and 
for derecognition. In 2013, HKFRS 9 was further amended to bring into effect a substantial overhaul of hedge 
accounting that will allow entities to better reflect their risk management activities in the financial statements.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described as follows:

•	 All	 recognised	financial	assets	that	are	within	the	scope	of	HKAS	39	Financial	 Instruments:	Recognition	and	
Measurement are subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that 
are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have 
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are 
generally measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. All other debt investments 
and equity investments are measured at their fair values at the end of subsequent reporting periods. In addition, 
under HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an 
equity investment (that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend income 
generally recognised in profit or loss.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 9 — Financial Instruments (continued)
•	 With	regard	to	the	measurement	of	financial	liabilities	designated	as	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss,	HKFRS	9	

requires that the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the 
credit risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of 
changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting 
mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value of financial liabilities attributable to changes in the financial 
liabilities’ credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the 
change in the fair value of the financial liability designated as at fair value through profit or loss was presented 
in profit or loss.

•	 HKFRS	9	 introduces	a	new	model	which	 is	more	closely	aligns	hedge	accounting	with	 risk	management	
activities undertaken by companies when hedging their financial and non-financial risk exposures. As a 
principle-based approach, HKFRS 9 looks at whether a risk component can be identified and measured and 
does not distinguish between financial items and non-financial items. The new model also enables an entity to 
use information produced internally for risk management purposes as a basis for hedge accounting. Under 
HKAS 39, it is necessary to exhibit eligibility and compliance with the requirements in HKAS 39 using metrics 
that are designed solely for accounting purposes. The new model also includes eligibility criteria but these are 
based on an economic assessment of the strength of the hedging relationship. This can be determined using 
risk management data. This should reduce the costs of implementation compared with those for HKAS 39 
hedge accounting because it reduces the amount of analysis that is required to be undertaken only for 
accounting purposes.

The effective date of HKFRS 9 is not yet determined. However, earlier application is permitted.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the adoption of HKFRS 9 in the future may have significant impact on 
amounts reported in respect of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities.

Regarding the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of 
that effect until a detailed review has been completed.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 Investment Entities
The amendments to HKFRS 10 introduce an exception to consolidate subsidiaries for an investment entity, except 
where the subsidiaries provide services that relate to the investment entity’s investment activities. Under the 
amendments to HKFRS 10, an investment entity is required to measure its interests in subsidiaries at fair value 
through profit or loss.

To qualify as an investment entity, certain criteria have to be met. Specifically, an entity is required to:

•	 obtain	 funds	 from	one	or	more	 investors	 for	 the	purpose	of	providing	 them	with	professional	 investment	
management services;

•	 commit	to	its	investor(s)	that	its	business	purpose	is	to	invest	funds	solely	for	returns	from	capital	appreciation,	
investment income, or both; and

•	 measure	and	evaluate	performance	of	substantially	all	of	its	investments	on	a	fair	value	basis.

Consequential amendments to HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 have been made to introduce new disclosure requirements for 
investment entities.

The amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2014 with early application permitted. The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the 
amendments will have no effect on the Group as the Company is not an investment entity.

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify existing application issues relating to the offset of financial assets and financial 
liabilities requirements. Specifically, the amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right 
of set-off” and “simultaneous realisation and settlement”.

The amendments to HKAS 32 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 with early 
application permitted and require retrospective application.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the amendments to HKAS 32 may result in more 
disclosures being made with regard to offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities in the future.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 36 Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets
The amendments to HKAS 36 require disclosures on additional information about the fair value measurement when 
the recoverable amount of impaired assets is based on fair value less costs of disposal. If the recoverable amount is 
fair value less costs of disposal, an entity shall disclose the level of the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value 
measurement of the asset or cash generating unit is catergorised in its entirety. The Group and the Company are 
required to make additional disclosures for Level 2 and Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

•	 a	description	of	the	valuation	techniques	used	to	measure	the	fair	value	less	costs	of	disposals.	If	there	is	any	
change in valuation techniques, the fact and the reason should also be disclosed;

•	 each	key	assumption	on	which	management	has	based	its	determination	of	fair	value	less	costs	of	disposal;

•	 the	discount	rates	used	in	the	current	and	previous	measurement	if	fair	value	less	costs	of	disposal	is	measured	
using a present value technique.

The amendments to HKAS 36 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 with earlier 
application permitted, provided HKFRS 13 is also applied, and require retrospectively application.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the amendments to HKAS 36 may result in additional 
disclosures being made with regard to the impairment assessment on non-financial assets.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the 
financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the 
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for investment properties and certain 
financial instruments that are measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by 
the Company (i.e. its subsidiaries). If a subsidiary prepares its financial statements using accounting policies other 
than those adopted in the consolidated financial statements for like transactions and events in similar circumstances 
(please specify), appropriate adjustments are made to that subsidiary’s financial statements in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements to ensure conformity with the group’s accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns 
from its involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of 
the Group’s returns. When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, power over the 
investee may be obtained through: (i) a contractual arrangement with other vote holders; (ii) rights arising from other 
contractual arrangements; (iii) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights; or (iv) a combination of the above, 
based on all relevant facts and circumstances.

The Company reassess whether it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to 
one or more of these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control of the subsidiary and cease when the Group 
loses control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income from the date of the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the 
subsidiary.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between entities 
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Business combinations
Businesses combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a 
business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of 
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the 
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs incurred to 
effect a business combination are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, 
except that:

•	 deferred	 tax	assets	or	 liabilities	arising	 from	the	assets	acquired	and	 liabilities	assumed	 in	 the	business	
combination are recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes;

•	 assets	or	 liabilities	related	to	the	acquiree’s	employee	benefit	arrangements	are	recognised	and	measured	in	
accordance with HKAS 19 Employee Benefits;
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations (continued)
•	 liabilities	or	equity	instruments	related	to	share-based	payment	transactions	of	the	acquiree	or	the	replacement	

of the acquiree’s share-based payment transactions with the share-based transactions of the Group are 
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; and

•	 assets	(or	disposal	groups)	that	are	classified	as	held	for	sale	in	accordance	with	HKFRS	5	Non-current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over 
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting 
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair 
value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as 
measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent 
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent 
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is 
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with HKAS 39, or HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups 
of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or more frequently 
when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the 
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting 
period. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the 
unit on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is 
recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for goods sold in the normal course 
of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the 
following conditions are satisfied.

•	 the	Group	has	transferred	to	the	buyer	the	significant	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership	of	the	goods;

•	 the	Group	retains	neither	continuing	managerial	involvement	to	the	degree	usually	associated	with	ownership	
nor effective control over the goods sold;

•	 the	amount	of	revenue	can	be	measured	reliably;

•	 it	is	probable	that	the	economic	benefits	associated	with	the	transaction	will	flow	to	the	Group;	and

•	 the	costs	incurred	or	to	be	incurred	in	respect	of	the	transaction	can	be	measured	reliably.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference 
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on 
initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been 
established (provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue 
can be measured reliably).

Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leasing (continued)
The Group as lessee
Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease 
or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included 
in the consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a 
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately in 
profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in 
accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs. Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the 
periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset 
are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which 
they are incurred.

Leasehold land and buildings
When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group assesses the classification of each element as a 
finance or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both 
elements are operating leases in which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the 
minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the 
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and building 
element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted 
for as an operating lease is presented as prepaid lease payments in the consolidated statement of financial position 
and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those that are classified and accounted for as 
investment properties under the fair value model. When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the 
land and building elements, the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease and accounted for as property, 
plant and equipment.

Foreign currencies
In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the 
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on 
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in 
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rate prevailing at the 
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates for the year. 
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under 
the heading of the exchange reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation on 
or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and retranslated at the rate of 
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange difference arising are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits
Employment Ordinance long service payments
Certain of the Group’s employees have completed the required number of years of service to the Group in order to 
be eligible for long service payments under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance in the event of the termination of 
their employment. The Group is liable to make such payments in the event that such a termination of the employment 
meets the circumstances specified in the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. A provision is recognised in respect of 
the probable future long service payments expected to be made. The provision is based on the best estimate of the 
probable payments which have been earned by the employees from their service to the Group to the end of the 
reporting period.

Retirement benefit costs
Payments to defined contribution plans and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense 
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as 
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items 
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable 
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred 
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally 
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not 
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business 
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting 
profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary 
differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are 
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be 
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the 
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its 
assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets for investment properties that are 
measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely 
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is 
depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic 
benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted, 
deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for such investment properties are measured in accordance with the 
general principles above.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the 
initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business 
combination.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land (classified as finance leases) and buildings held for use in the 
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes are stated in the consolidated statement of 
financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment 
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their residual 
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and 
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate 
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets. 
However, when there is no reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease term, assets 
are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an 
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair values. Gains or losses arising from changes in the 
fair value of investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn 
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition 
of the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) 
is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

Prepaid lease payments
Prepaid lease payments represent lease prepayments paid or payable for the right to use the land on which various 
plants and buildings are situated for a definite period, are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation of prepaid lease payments is calculated on a straight-line basis over 
the expected period of the rights.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are calculated using the 
weighted average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all 
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sales.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash in the consolidated and the Company’s statements of financial position comprise cash at 
banks and on hand and short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-
term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of financial position of the Company at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated and the Company’s statements of financial 
position when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of 
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets
The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the three categories, including financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. The Company’s financial 
assets are loans and receivables. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is 
determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and 
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that 
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

EFFECTIVE INTEREST METHOD
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating 
interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets 
classified as at FVTPL, of which interest income is included in net gains or losses.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL
Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets held-for-trading.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL (continued)
A financial asset is classified as held-for-trading if:

•	 it	has	been	acquired	principally	for	the	purpose	of	selling	in	the	near	term;	or

•	 it	 is	a	part	of	a	portfolio	of	identified	financial	 instruments	that	the	Group	manages	together	and	has	a	recent	
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

•	 it	is	a	derivative	that	is	not	designated	and	effective	as	a	hedging	instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value arising from remeasurement 
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss 
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial assets and is included in the “loss on fair value changes of 
held-for-trading investments” line item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Fair value is determined in the 
manner described in Note 6.

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including loan receivable, trade receivables, 
other receivables and deposits, amounts due from subsidiaries, pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash) 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any identified impairment loss (see 
accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as available-for-sale or are not 
classified as financial assets at FVTPL, loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments.

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are classified as available-for-sale financial assets and are traded in 
an active market are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the carrying amount of 
available-for-sale monetary financial assets relating to interest income calculated using the effective interest method 
and dividends on available-for-sale equity investments are recognised in profit or loss. Other changes in the carrying 
amount of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under 
the heading of available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve. When the investment is disposed of or is determined 
to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the available-for-sale investment reserve is 
reclassified to profit or loss (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment loss on financial assets below).

Dividend on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the 
dividends is established.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS
Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting 
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or 
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial assets have been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment 
below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

•	 significant	financial	difficulty	of	the	issuer	or	counterparty;	or

•	 breach	of	contract,	such	as	default	or	delinquency	in	interest	and	principal	payments;	or

•	 it	becoming	probable	that	the	borrower	will	enter	into	bankruptcy	or	financial	re-organisation;	or

•	 disappearance	of	an	active	market	for	that	financial	asset	because	of	financial	difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as loan receivables, trade receivables, other receivables and amounts 
due from subsidiaries, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for 
impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the 
Group’s and the Company’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments 
in the portfolio past the average credit period, observable changes in national or local economic conditions that 
correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market 
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 
exception of loan receivables, trade receivables, other receivables and amounts due from subsidiaries, where the 
carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the 
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When loan receivables, trade receivables, other receivables and 
amounts due from subsidiaries are considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)
When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period in which the impairment 
takes place.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment losses was 
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the 
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would 
have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments will not be reversed through profit or loss. Any increase in 
fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an 
equity instrument.

The Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities are classified into other financial liabilities.

OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Other financial liabilities including trade payables, other payables and accrued charges, borrowings and obligations 
under finance leases are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

EFFECTIVE INTEREST METHOD
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest 
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis other than those financial liability classified as at FVTPL, 
of which the interest expenses is included in net gains or losses.

EQUITY INSTRUMENTS
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of 
its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 
costs.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities of the Group and the Company are offset and the net amount reported in the 
consolidated and Company’s statements of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the 
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

Warrants
Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of 
the Company’s own equity instruments are classified as an equity instrument.

For warrants issued to subscribers of the Company’s shares, the fair value of warrants on the date of issue is 
recognised in equity (warrant reserve). The warrant reserve will be transferred to share capital and share premium 
upon exercise of the warrants. Where the warrants remain unexercised at the expiry date, the amount previously 
recognised in warrant reserve will be transferred to the retained earnings/accumulated losses.

Financial guarantee contracts
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the 
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original 
or modified terms of a debt instrument.

A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group and the Company and not designated as at FVTPL is recognised 
initially at its fair value less transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial guarantee 
contract. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group and the Company measure the financial guarantee contract at 
the higher of: (i) the amount of obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, 
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the revenue recognition policy.

Derecognition
A financial asset is derecognised only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it 
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If 
the Group and the Company neither transfer nor retain substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and 
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group and the Company continue to recognise the asset to the extent 
of its continuing involvement and recognises an associated liability. If the Group and the Company retain substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group and the Company continue to 
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum 
of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

A financial liabilities is derecognised when, and only when, the Group’s and the Company’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group and the Company have a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can 
be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end 
of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision 
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value 
of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
SHARE OPTIONS GRANTED TO EMPLOYEES
The fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted at the date of 
grant is recognised as an expense in full at the grant date when the share options granted vest immediately, with a 
corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve).

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to 
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry 
date, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.

SHARE OPTIONS GRANTED TO CONSULTANTS
Share options issued in exchange for services are measured at the fair values of the services received, unless that fair 
value cannot be reliably measured, in which case the services received are measured by reference to the fair value of 
the share options granted. The fair values of the services received are recognised as expenses, with a corresponding 
increase in equity (share options reserve), when the counterparties render services, unless the services qualify for 
recognition as assets.

Impairment losses on tangible assets (other than impairment of goodwill set out in 
accounting policy of goodwill above)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group and the Company review the carrying amounts of their tangible assets 
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment 
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent 
of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the 
Group and the Company estimate the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to 
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for 
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future 
cash flows have not been adjusted.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment losses on tangible assets (other than impairment of goodwill set out in 
accounting policy of goodwill above) (continued)
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under another 
standard, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under that standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 
(or a cash generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, 
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under another standard, in which case the reversal of the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase under that standard.

Fair value measurement
When measuring fair value except for the Group’s and the Company’s share-based payment transactions, for the 
purpose of impairment assessment, the Group and the Company take into account the characteristics of the asset or 
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the 
measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group and the Company use valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising 
the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically, the Group categorised the fair value measurements into three levels, 
based on the characteristics of inputs, as follow:

Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 

is directly or indirectly observable.
Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 

is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group and the Company determine whether transfer occur between levels of 
the fair value hierarchy for assets and liabilities
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, the directors 
of the Company are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the amounts of assets and 
liabilities, revenue and expenses reported and disclosures made in the financial statements. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that the directors of the Company 
have made in the process of applying the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies and that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised and disclosures made in the financial statements.

Litigation
The Group is involved in the lawsuits and claims for both years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012. The directors of 
the Company believe that the Group has substantial legal and factual bases to defend for their position and are of the 
opinion that the estimated losses arising from these lawsuits, if any, will not have a material adverse impact on the 
results of the operations or the financial position of the Group. Accordingly, no provision for such liabilities has been 
made in the financial statements. Details of litigation are disclosed in Note 39.

Deferred taxation on investment properties
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets arising from investment properties that 
are measured using the fair value model, the directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s investment 
property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment properties are not held under a business model whose 
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time. 
Therefore, in measuring the Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties, the directors of the Company have 
determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts of investment properties measured using the fair value 
model are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. As a result, the Group has not recognised any deferred 
taxes on changes in fair value of investment properties as the Group is not subject to any income taxes on disposal of 
its investment properties.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment of trade receivables and loan receivable
The policy for making impairment losses on trade receivables and loan receivable of the Group is based on the 
evaluation of collectability and ageing analysis of accounts and on management’s judgement. A considerable amount 
of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the current 
creditworthiness, past collection history of each debtor as well as the collateral received by the Group. If the financial 
conditions of debtors of the Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, 
additional impairment loss may be required. As at 31 December 2013, the carrying amounts of trade receivables and 
loan receivable were HK$722,000 (2012: HK$694,000) and HK$10,000,000 (2012: nil), respectively. No impairment was 
recognised on trade receivables and loan receivable during the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: nil). Details of  
loan receivable and trade receivables are disclosed in Notes 25 and 26 respectively.

Fair value of financial guarantee contract
The Company provided financial guarantee to a bank in respect of banking facilities granted to a subsidiary. The 
determination of the fair value of financial guarantees requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the 
expectation is different from the original estimates, such difference will impact the fair value of the financial guarantee 
and the results for the period in which such estimates change. Details of financial guarantee contract are disclosed in 
Note 43. As at 31 December 2013, the carrying amount of the financial guarantee contract in the Company’s 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2013 was nil (2012: HK$259,000).

Fair value of investment properties
At the end of the reporting period, investment properties are stated at fair value based on the valuation performed by 
independent professional valuers. In determining the fair value, the valuers have based on a method of valuation 
which involves certain estimates of market conditions. In relying on the valuation report, the directors of the Company 
have exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the assumptions used in the valuation have reflected the 
current market conditions. Changes to these assumptions would result in changes in the fair values of the Group’s 
investment properties being recognised in profit or loss. The carrying amount of investment properties measured at 
fair value at 31 December 2013 was approximately HK$95,900,000 (2012: HK$92,800,000).

Estimated useful life of property, plant and equipment
The Group’s property, plant and equipment are depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term of leases and their 
estimated useful lives, and after taking into account of their estimated residual values, using the straight-line method, 
at the rates ranging from 2% to 20% per annum. The estimated useful life reflects the directors of the Company 
estimate of the periods that the Group intends to derive future economic benefits from the use of the Group’s 
property, plant and equipment.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease payments
The impairment loss for property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease payments are recognised for the amounts 
by which the carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.

The Group evaluates whether property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease payments have suffered any 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is determined based on value-in-
use calculations prepared on the basis of management’s assumptions and estimates such as the future revenue and 
discount rates, taking into account the existing business plan going forward, the current sales orders on hand and 
other strategic new business development or fair market valuation, as appropriate. The Group’s carrying values of 
property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease payments as at 31 December 2013 was approximately 
HK$42,786,000 (2012: HK$45,697,000) and HK$13,476,000 (2012: HK$13,948,000) respectively. No impairment loss was 
recognised on property, plant and equipment during the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: HK$4,036,000). No 
impairment loss was recognised on prepaid lease payment during the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012.

Impairment loss for inventories
The management of the Group reviews an ageing analysis at the end of each reporting period, and makes allowance 
for obsolete and slow-moving inventory items identified that are no longer suitable for sales. The management 
estimates the net realisable value for such items based primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market 
conditions. The Group carries out an inventory review on a product-by-product basis at the end of each reporting 
period and makes allowance for obsolete items. The carrying amount of inventories as at 31 December 2013 was 
approximately HK$1,023,000 (2012: HK$1,450,000). No impairment loss was recognised during the years ended 31 
December 2013 and 2012. Details of inventories are disclosed in Note 24.

5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group and the Company manage their capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a 
going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. 
The Group’s and the Company’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group and the Company consists of net debt, which includes borrowings, obligations 
under finance leases, net of pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash and equity attributable to owners of the 
Company, comprising issued share capital, share premium and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the directors 
consider the cost of capital and risks associates with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the 
directors, the Group and the Company will balance their overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, 
new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

The Group The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets 42,105 22,332 – –
    

Fair value through profit or loss
 Held-for-trading investments 1,073 1,133 – –

    

Loan and receivables (including
 cash and cash equivalents) 122,850 109,698 237,383 215,641

    

Financial liabilities

At amortised cost 17,509 16,167 6,053 6,790
    

Financial guarantee contract – – – 259
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
The financial risks associated with the financial instruments of the Group and the Company include market risk 
(currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate 
these risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate 
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
(I) CURRENCY RISK

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency sales and purchases, which expose the Group 
to foreign currency risk. Approximately 69% (2012: 70%) of the Group’s sales and 26% (2012: 56%) of its 
costs are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the Group entity making the 
sale and purchase.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary 
liabilities at the reporting date are as follows:

Assets Liabilities
2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

United States Dollars (“USD”) 1,850 2,185 – –
Renminbi (“RMB”) 47,965 45,608 2,020 1,881

    

There was no foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting 
date in the Company.

Sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to the USD and RMB.

USD is not the functional currency of the Group entity and as HK$ is pegged to USD, the Group does not 
expect any significant movements in the USD/HK$ exchange rates. In the opinion of directors of the 
Company, the foreign currency sensitivity does not give additional value in view of insignificant movement 
in the USD/HK$ exchange rates.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)
(I) CURRENCY RISK (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2012: 5%) increase and decrease in HK$ against 
RMB. 5% (2012: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key 
management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in 
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated 
monetary items, and adjusts their translation at the year end for a 5% (2012: 5%) change in foreign 
currency rates. A positive number below indicates a decrease in post-tax loss for the year where HK$ 
strengthen 5% (2012: 5%) against RMB. For a 5% (2012: 5%) weakening of HK$ against RMB, there would 
be an equal and opposite impact on the loss for the year and the balances below would be negative.

RMB impact
2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Post-tax profit or loss 1,918 1,826
  

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management 
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign exchange exposure 
should the need arises.

(II) INTEREST RATE RISK
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to borrowings and obligations under finance 
leases of nil (2012: HK$259,000) and HK$1,292,000 (2012: HK$32,000) respectively, at fixed rates and such 
fixed rate assets and liabilities were disclosed in the respective notes.

The Group and the Company are also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate 
assets and liabilities. It is the Group’s and the Company’s policy to keep its assets and liabilities at floating 
rate of interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group and the Company currently do not have an interest rate hedging policy. However, the 
management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure 
should the need arises.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)
(II) INTEREST RATE RISK (continued)

The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to variable interest rates on financial assets and financial 
liabilities are detailed below.

Financial instruments with variable interest rate in nature

The Group The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets

Pledged bank deposits 136 1,161 – –
Bank balances and cash 111,841 105,643 – –

    

111,977 106,804 – –
    

Financial liabilities

Borrowings 7,920 8,570 – –
    

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis is prepared assuming the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the 
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. As at 31 December 2013, if the interest rate of 
pledged bank deposits, bank balance and cash and borrowings had been 100 (2012: 100) basis point 
higher/lower, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year would decrease/increase by approximately 
HK$869,000 (2012: decrease/increase in loss for the year of approximately HK$820,000).

(III) OTHER PRICE RISKS
The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments in listed equity securities. The 
management manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risk and 
return profiles. The Group’s other price risk is mainly concentrated on equity instruments listed in Hong 
Kong.

Equity price sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the 
end of the reporting period.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)
(III) OTHER PRICE RISKS (continued)

Sensitivity analysis
If the prices of the respective equity instruments had been 10% (2012: 10%) higher/lower:

•	 loss	for	the	year	ended	31	December	2013	would	decrease/increase	by	approximately	HK$107,000	
(2012: decrease/increase by approximately HK$113,000) for the Group as a result of the changes in 
fair value of held-for-trading investments; and

•	 other	 comprehensive	 income	 (2012:	 income)	would	 increase/decrease	 by	 approximately	
HK$4,211,000 (2012: increase/decrease by approximately HK$2,233,000) for the Group as a result of 
the changes in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets.

Credit risk
As at 31 December 2013, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a 
financial loss to the Group or the Company due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is 
arising from the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated and 
the Company’s statements of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for 
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action 
is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group and the Company reviews the recoverable amount of 
each individual receivable balance at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses 
are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s and 
the Company’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned 
by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical locations is mainly in the United States of America 
(“USA”), which accounted for approximately 58% (2012: 67%) of the total trade receivables as at 31 December 
2013.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as approximately nil (2012: 67%) and approximately 49% (2012: 97%) 
of total trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers 
respectively within the manufacturing and sale of life-like plants segment as at 31 December 2013.

The Company is also exposed to credit risk through the granting of financial guarantees, further details of which 
are disclosed in Note 43.

The Group’s loan receivable is due from a single client, the quality of loan receivable of the Group included in 
Note 25.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Liquidity risk
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group and the Company monitor and maintain a level of cash and 
cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s and the Company’s operations 
and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank 
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s and the Company’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial 
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on 
the earliest date on which the Group and the Company can be required to pay. Specifically, bank loans with a 
repayment demand clause are included in the earliest time band regardless of the probability of the bank 
choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates of other financial liabilities are based on the agreed 
repayment terms.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the 
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

The Group

On demand/
within

one year
One to two 

years
More than
two years

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flows
Carrying 
amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 December 2013

Trade payables, other payables
 and accrued charges 6,760 – – 6,760 6,760
Obligations under finance leases 301 314 677 1,292 1,292
Bank borrowings
 — variable rate (Note) 8,142 – – 8,142 7,920
Other borrowing 1,537 – – 1,537 1,537

     

16,740 314 677 17,731 17,509
     

At 31 December 2012

Trade payables, other payables
 and accrued charges 7,306 – – 7,306 7,306
Obligations under finance leases 9 9 14 32 32
Bank borrowings
 — fixed rate (Note) 264 – – 264 259
 — variable rate (Note) 8,810 – – 8,810 8,570

     

16,389 9 14 16,412 16,167
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
Note:

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “on demand/within one year” time band in the above maturity 

analysis. Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the directors of the Company do not believe that it is probable that the banks will 

exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors of the Company believe that such bank borrowings will be 

fully repaid in eight (2012: nine) years after the end of reporting period in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loans 

agreements. At that time, the aggregate principal and interest cash outflows will amount to approximately HK$8,622,000 (2012: HK$9,446,000).

The Company

On demand/
within

one year
One to two 

years
More than
two years

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flows
Carrying 
amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 December 2013

Other payables and
 accrued charges 6,053 – – 6,053 6,053
Financial guarantee contract
 (Note 43) 8,142 – – 8,142 –

     

14,195 – – 14,195 6,053
     

At 31 December 2012

Other payables and
 accrued charges 6,790 – – 6,790 6,790
Financial guarantee contract
 (Note 43) 8,810 – – 8,810 259

     

15,600 – – 15,600 7,049
     

Note:

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are the maximum amounts the Company could be required to settle under the 

arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations at the end 

of the reporting period, the Company considers that it is more likely than not that no amount will be payable under the arrangement. However, 

this estimate is subject to change depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function of the 

likelihood that the land and buildings pledged to the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer market value losses.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
The amount included above for variable interest rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are 
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those interest rates determined at the end of the 
reporting period.

(c) Fair value
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

•	 the	fair	value	of	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	with	standard	terms	and	conditions	and	traded	in	
active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market bid prices and ask prices 
respectively;

•	 the	 fair	 value	of	obligations	under	 finance	 leases	and	bank	borrowings	 for	disclosure	purposes	 is	
estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is 
available to the Group and the Company for similar financial instruments;

•	 the	fair	values	of	other	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	are	determined	in	accordance	with	generally	
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis; and

•	 the	fair	value	of	financial	guarantee	contracts	is	determined	using	option	pricing	models	where	the	main	
assumptions are the probability of default by the specified counterparty extrapolated from market-based 
credit information and the amount of loss, given the default.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of other financial assets and financial 
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated and the Company’s financial statements approximate 
their fair values due to their immediate or short-term maturities.

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of 
each reporting period for recurring and non-recurring measurement, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the 
degree to which the fair value is observable in accordance to the Group’s accounting policy.

•	 Level	1	fair	value	measurements	are	those	derived	from	quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	 in	active	market	for	
identical assets or liabilities.

•	 Level	2	fair	value	measurements	are	those	derived	from	inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	included	within	
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived 
from prices).

•	 Level	3	fair	value	measurements	are	those	derived	from	valuation	techniques	that	include	inputs	for	the	
asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value (continued)
Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position 
(continued)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 December 2013

The Group
Financial assets at FVTPL
Listed equity securities 1,073 – – 1,073

    

Available-for-sale
 financial assets
Listed equity securities 42,105 – – 42,105

    

At 31 December 2012

The Group
Financial assets at FVTPL
Listed equity securities 1,133 – – 1,133

    

Available-for-sale
 financial assets
Listed equity securities 22,332 – – 22,332

    

There were no transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy in the current and prior years.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value (continued)
Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position 
(continued)
The valuation techniques and input used in Level 1 fair value measurements of financial instruments as set out 
below:

Financial assets Fair value of
Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation 
technique(s)
and key input(s)

Significant
unobservable
inputs

(1) Held-for-trading
 investments

Listed equity security in Hong Kong: Level 1 Quoted bid prices in
 an active market

N/A

— HK$1,073,000 
(31 December 2012: HK$1,133,000)

(2) Available-for-sale
 financial assets

Listed equity security in Hong Kong: Level 1 Quoted bid prices in
 an active market

N/A

— HK$42,105,000 
(31 December 2012: HK$22,332,000)
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7. TURNOVER

An analysis of the Group’s turnover for the year is as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Sales of life-like plants 7,983 6,840
Properties rental income 1,246 1,720

  

9,229 8,560
  

The direct operating expenses from investment properties that generated rental income amounted to approximately 
HK$197,000 (2012: HK$213,000) for the year ended 31 December 2013.

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating segment, based on information reported to the chief operating decision maker, the board of 
directors, for the purpose of resources allocation and performance assessment are as follows:

(a) The manufacturing and sales of life-like plants segment engaged in manufacturing and sales of life-like plants in 
Hong Kong and the Peoples’ Republic of China (the “PRC”).

(b) The properties investment engaged in the investment in properties in Hong Kong.

(c) The securities investment engaged in the trading of listed securities and investing activities in Hong Kong.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenue and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable segment.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

Manufacturing 
and sales of

life-like plants
Properties 

investment
Securities 

investment Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 7,983 1,246 – 9,229
    

Segment revenue 7,983 1,246 – 9,229
    

Segment (loss) profit (8,790) 3,896 3,155 (1,739)
   

Unallocated corporate operating income 197
Unallocated corporate operating expenses (4,228)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale
 financial assets (4,352)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale
 financial assets 2,400
Finance costs (320)

 

Loss before tax (8,042)
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenue and results (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2012

Manufacturing 
and sales of 

life-like plants
Properties 

investment
Securities 

investment Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 6,840 1,720 – 8,560
    

Segment revenue 6,840 1,720 – 8,560
    

Segment (loss) profit (35,772) 16,082 1,300 (18,390)
   

Unallocated corporate operating income 99
Unallocated corporate operating expenses (5,364)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale
 financial assets (1,500)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale
 financial assets 13,248
Finance costs (346)

 

Loss before tax (12,253)
 

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers. There were no inter-
segment sales for both years.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in 
Note 3. Segment (loss) profit represents the (loss from) profit earned by each segment without allocation of certain 
indirect administration costs, bank interest income, directors’ emoluments, finance costs, gain on disposal of 
available-for-sale financial assets and impairment loss on available-for-sale financial assets. This is the measure 
reported to the chief operating decision marker for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment 
performance.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by reportable segment:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment assets

Manufacturing and sales of life-like plants 64,167 64,724
Properties investment 99,083 92,976
Securities investment 103,406 96,414

  

Total segment assets 266,656 254,114
Unallocated corporate assets 53,991 34,906

  

Consolidated total assets 320,647 289,020
  

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment liabilities

Manufacturing and sales of life-like plants 1,224 6,389
Properties investment 343 165
Securities investment – –

  

Total segment liabilities 1,567 6,554
Unallocated corporate liabilities 29,631 23,373

  

Consolidated total liabilities 31,198 29,927
  

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments:

•	 all	assets	are	allocated	to	reportable	segments	other	 than	available-for-sale	financial	assets,	certain	other	
receivables, prepayments and deposits, loan receivable and certain bank balances and cash as these assets are 
managed on a group basis.

•	 all	 liabilities	are	allocated	to	reportable	segments	other	 than	certain	other	payables	and	accrued	charges,	
deferred tax liabilities, borrowings and obligations under finance leases as these liabilities are managed on a 
group basis.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Other segment information
2013

Manufacturing 
and sales of 

life-like plants
Properties 

investment
Securities 

investment Unallocated Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts included in the measure
 of segment profit or loss
 or segment assets:
 Additions to non-current assets (Note) 2,611 – – – 2,611
 Amortisation of prepaid lease payments 473 – – – 473
 Depreciation of property,
  plant and equipment 4,261 35 – – 4,296
 Gain on fair value changes of
  investment properties – (3,100) – – (3,100)
 Loss on fair value changes of
  held-for-trading investments – – 60 – 60
 Gain on disposal of available-for-sales
  financial assets – – – (2,400) (2,400)
 Gain on disposal of property,
  plant and equipment (131) – – – (131)
 Impairment loss on available-for-sale
  financial assets – – – 4,352 4,352

Amounts regularly provided to the
 chief operating decision maker
 but not included in the measure
 of segment profit or loss:
 Interest income – – (1,670) (50) (1,720)
 Loan interest income – – – (148) (148)
 Finance costs – – – 320 320
 Income tax credit (295) 39 – – (256)
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Other segment information (continued)
2012

Manufacturing
and sale of

life-like plants
Properties 

investment
Securities 

investment Unallocated Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts included in the measure
 of segment profit or loss
 or segment assets:
 Additions to non-current assets (Note) 9,990 816 – – 10,806
 Amortisation of prepaid lease payments 473 – – – 473
 Depreciation of property,
  plant and equipment 5,051 47 – – 5,098
 Gain on fair value changes of
  investment properties – (14,734) – – (14,734)
 Loss on fair value changes of
  held-for-trading investments – – 187 – 187
 Gain on disposal of available-for-sales
  financial assets – – – (13,248) (13,248)
 Gain on disposal of property,
  plant and equipment (1,772) – – – (1,772)
 Loss on written off of property,
  plant and equipment 3,471 – – – 3,471
 Loss on written off of inventories 6,672 – – – 6,672
 Impairment loss on available-for-sale
  financial assets – – – 1,500 1,500
 Impairment loss recognised in respect
  of goodwill 8,582 – – – 8,582
 Impairment loss recognised in respect
  of property, plant and equipment 4,036 – – – 4,036

Amounts regularly provided to the 
 chief operating decision maker
 but not included in the measure
 of segment profit or loss:
 Interest income – – (1,322) (2) (1,324)
 Finance costs – – – 346 346
 Income tax (credit) expense (1,401) 42 – 7 (1,352)

     

Note: Non-current assets excluded those relating to financial instruments.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information
The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong (place of domicile) and the PRC.

The Group’s revenue from external customers and information about its non-current assets by geographical locations 
of the assets are detailed below:

Revenue from
external customers

Non-current
assets (Note)

2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong (place of domicile) 3,664 3,774 112,625 111,607
PRC – – 39,064 40,479
USA 2,834 2,625 – –
Others 2,731 2,161 – –

    

9,229 8,560 151,689 152,086
    

Note: Non-current assets excluded those relating to financial instruments.

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group is as 
follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Customer A 2,212 2,625
Customer B 1,599 1,077
Customer C 1,385 N/A*

  

* The previous revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total sales of the Group.

All the above revenue was derived from the sale of life-like plants.
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9. OTHER REVENUE

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Net foreign exchange gain 1,081 136
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 131 1,772
Interest income 1,720 1,324
Loan interest income 148 –
Sundry income 498 353

  

3,578 3,585
  

10. FINANCE COSTS

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on:
Bank and other borrowings wholly repayable within five years 256 271
Finance leases 35 75
Bank overdrafts 29 –

  

320 346
  

11. INCOME TAx CREDIT

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Under-provision in prior years:
 PRC Enterprise Income Tax – 10

Deferred tax (Note 34):
 Current year (256) (1,362)

  

(256) (1,352)
  

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group has no estimated assessable profits arising in 
Hong Kong during the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the 
tax rate of the PRC subsidiary is 25%.
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11. INCOME TAx CREDIT (continued)

The tax charge for the years can be reconciled to the loss per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follow:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before tax (8,042) (12,253)
  

Tax at the domestic income tax rate at 16.5% (2012: 16.5%) (1,327) (2,022)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 1,293 5,654
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (1,664) (5,091)
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised 1,974 1,408
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences not recognised 153 145
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised – (10)
Utilisation of deductible temporary differences previously not recognised (256) –
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions (429) (1,446)
Under-provision in prior years – 10

  

Income tax credit for the year (256) (1,352)
  

Details of the deferred tax liabilities are set out in Note 34.
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12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Auditor’s remuneration 700 700
Staff costs:
 Directors’ remuneration (Note 13) 1,995 2,160
 Wages, salaries and other benefits (excluding directors) 6,136 6,148
 Retirement benefit costs (excluding directors) 465 386

  

Total staff costs 8,596 8,694
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 7,337 7,127
Loss on written off of property, plant and equipment (Note) – 3,471
Loss on written off of inventories (Note) – 6,672
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments 473 473
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4,296 5,098
Operating lease rental on rented premises 634 856

  

Note:

Included in other operating expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for year ended 31 December 2012, were loss on written off of 

property, plant and equipment and inventories of approximately HK$3,471,000 and HK$6,672,000, respectively. The board of directors resolved to 

terminate the manufacturing and sales of christmas trees business included in the manufacturing and sales of life-like plants segment during the year 

ended 31 December 2012 as a result of the keen competition and decline in the demand for christmas trees products of the Group. Relevant 

inventories and property, plant and equipment were obsolete and written off. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the carrying amount of 

such assets cannot be recovered through use or disposal. There is no further written off in respect of the property, plant and equipment and 

inventories as at 31 December 2013.
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13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is stated as 
follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2013

Directors’
fees

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits
in kind

Retirement 
benefit costs Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive directors:
Chan Chi Yuen
 (resigned on 30 September 2013) 1,350 – 5 1,355
Chang Hoi Nam
 (appointed on 30 September 2013) 90 – 4 94
Yu Pak Yan, Peter 240 – 6 246

Independent non-executive
 directors:
Lau Man Tak 100 – – 100
Man Kwok Leung 100 – – 100
Wong Yun Kuen 100 – – 100

    

1,980 – 15 1,995
    

For the year ended 31 December 2012

Directors’
fees

Salaries, 
allowances

and benefits
in kind

Retirement 
benefit costs Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive directors:
Chan Chi Yuen 1,800 – – 1,800
Yu Pak Yan, Peter 90 – – 90

Independent non-executive
 directors:
Lau Man Tak 90 – – 90
Man Kwok Leung 90 – – 90
Wong Yun Kuen 90 – – 90

    

2,160 – – 2,160
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13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the 
Group or as compensation for loss of office for both years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012.

None of the director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for both years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012.

There was no chief executive in the Group during the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012.

14. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, two (2012: one) were directors of the Company 
whose emoluments are included in Note 13 above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2012: four) individuals 
were as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,048 1,122
Retirement benefit costs 40 46

  

1,088 1,168
  

The emoluments were all within the following band:

Number of individuals
2013 2012

Nil–HK$1,000,000 3 4
  

For both years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012, no emoluments was paid by the Group to any of the five highest 
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as a compensation for loss of office.

15. DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during 2013, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting 
period (2012: nil).
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16. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the 
following data:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company (7,786) (10,901)
  

Number of shares
2013 2012
’000 ’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic loss
 per share 1,540,577 885,401

  

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the computation of diluted loss per share does not assume the exercise of the 
Company’s outstanding share options because the exercise price of those share options was higher than the average 
market price for shares for 2013.

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the computation of diluted loss per share does not assume the exercise of the 
Company’s outstanding share options and conversion of Company’s outstanding warrants because the exercise 
prices of those share options and warrants were higher than the average market price for shares for 2012.

17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The Company
2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 1,247 1,247
Less: Impairment loss – –

  

1,247 1,247
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The list below denotes particulars of the subsidiaries which in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally 
affect the results, assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2013 and 2012. To give details of other 
subsidiaries would in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length. The class 
of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated. As of 31 December 2013 and 2012, the Group had effective 
interests in the following principal subsidiaries:

Proportion of ownership interest 
As at 31 December 2013 and 2012 

Name of company

Place of 
incorporation 
and operation

Particulars of
issued and
paid up capital

Group’s 
effective 
interest

Held
by the 

Company

Held
by a 

subsidiary
Principal
activities

Coast Holdings Limited Hong Kong 100,000 shares of

 HK$1 each

100% – 100% Properties investment

Kingston Property Investment Limited Hong Kong 20,000 shares of

 HK$1 each

100% – 100% Properties investment

Lisun Plastic Factory Limited (“LSHK”) Hong Kong 600,000 shares of

 HK$1 each

100% – 100% Sale of artificial flowers

惠東縣麗新塑膠廠有限公司 PRC Paid up capital of

 USD250,000

100% – 100% Manufacturing and sale

 of artificial flowers

Lisun Trading Limited Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 each 100%

(Note (i))

– 100% Sale of artificial flowers

FT China Limited Hong Kong 2 shares of HK$1 each 100% – 100% Investment holding

Star Wave Investments Limited Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 each 100% 100% – Securities investment

Smartrun Investments Limited BVI 1 share of USD1 each 100% 100% – Securities investment

Kong Sun Finance Limited Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 each 100% – 100% Money lender

Notes:

(i) The subsidiaries were incorporated during the year ended 31 December 2013.

(ii) None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities subsisting at the end of both years or any time during both years.
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18. AMOUNTS DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES

The Company
2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts due from subsidiaries 261,562 239,922
Less: Impairment loss recognised (24,282) (24,282)

  

237,280 215,640
  

(a) The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

The operating performance of the subsidiaries was unsatisfactory due to intense competition. In the opinion of 
the directors of the Company, it was uncertain that sufficient cash flows would be generated by the subsidiaries 
in the foreseeable future as the subsidiaries suffered financial difficulties and sustained losses. In view of the 
uncertainty of the recovery of the outstanding balance in those subsidiaries which sustained losses and had 
poor operating performance and that the subsidiaries a not financially capable of repaying to the Company, the 
directors of the Company concluded that it was appropriate to make an impairment loss on the amounts due 
from subsidiaries. As at 31 December 2013, there was accumulated impairment losses of approximately 
HK$24,282,000 (2012: HK$24,282,000) recognised on the amounts due from subsidiaries. Further details are set 
out in Note 18(b). The directors of the Company consider that the accumulated impairment losses provided are 
adequate but not excessive.

(b) Movements of impairment losses recognised in respect of amounts due from subsidiaries are analysed as 
follows:

The Company
2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 24,282 19,271
Impairment loss – 5,011

  

At 31 December 24,282 24,282
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19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group
2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAIR VALUE
At 1 January 92,800 77,250
Additions – 816
Increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss 3,100 14,734

  

At 31 December 95,900 92,800
  

The investment properties of the Group are situated in Hong Kong and held under long-term leases.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties at 31 December 2013 and 2012 have been arrived at on the basis 
of a valuation carried out on that day by Grant Sherman Appraisal Limited (“Grant Sherman”), an independent 
qualified professional valuer not connected with the Group. The valuation was arrived at by reference to market 
evidence of transaction prices for similar properties in the similar locations and conditions.

The Group leases out certain investment properties under operating leases, for an initial period of 1 to 3 years, with 
an option to renew on renegotiated terms.

All of the Group’s property interests held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured using the 
fair value model and are classified and accounted for as investment properties.

Details of the Group’s investment properties and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2013 
are follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Fair value
as at 

31/12/2013
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Investment properties – 95,900 – 95,900
    

There were no transfers between levels in fair value hierarchy during the year.

The fair value of investment properties and properties held for own use located in Hong Kong is determined using 
market comparison approach by reference to recent sales price of comparable properties on a price per square foot 
basis using market data which is publicly available.
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20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group

Land and 
Buildings

Leasehold 
Improvement

Plant and 
Machinery

Furniture, 
Fixtures

and
Equipment 

Motor
vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

COST
At 1 January 2012 39,328 8,487 12,643 796 2,391 63,645
Additions 8,980 488 17 204 301 9,990
Disposals (6,267) – (331) – (922) (7,520)
Effect of foreign currency
 exchange differences – 1 1 1 – 3
Written off – – (4,577) – – (4,577)

      

At 31 December 2012 42,041 8,976 7,753 1,001 1,770 61,541
Additions – 154 2 53 2,402 2,611
Disposals – – – (645) (1,763) (2,408)
Effect of foreign currency
 exchange differences – 2 2 4 – 8

      

At 31 December 2013 42,041 9,132 7,757 413 2,409 61,752
      

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
 AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2012 2,816 3,423 2,249 355 34 8,877
Provided for the year 1,492 1,968 1,012 215 411 5,098
Impairment recognised for
 the year – – 4,036 – – 4,036
Eliminated on disposals (865) – (142) – (56) (1,063)
Effect of foreign currency
 exchange differences – – – 2 – 2
Written off – – (1,106) – – (1,106)

      

At 31 December 2012 3,443 5,391 6,049 572 389 15,844
Provided for the year 1,357 1,964 344 113 518 4,296
Eliminated on disposals – – – (644) (535) (1,179)
Effect of foreign currency
 exchange differences – 2 – 3 – 5

      

At 31 December 2013 4,800 7,357 6,393 44 372 18,966
      

CARRYING AMOUNTS
At 31 December 2013 37,241 1,775 1,364 369 2,037 42,786

      

At 31 December 2012 38,598 3,585 1,704 429 1,381 45,697
      



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2013

81

Kong Sun Holdings Limited  •  Annual Report 2013

20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The Group (continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per 
annum:

Land and buildings Over the shorter of the term of the lease, or 25–50 years
Leasehold improvement Over the shorter of the term of the lease, or 5 years
Plant and machinery 6.67%–10%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

Certain land and buildings of the Group held under medium-term lease situated in Hong Kong were acquired on 31 
May 2011 due to the business acquisition during the year ended in 31 December 2011. The fair values of the land and 
buildings upon the acquisition were estimated with reference to the valuation made by Grant Sherman, an 
independent qualified professional valuer, on an open market value basis.

The net carrying amounts of furniture, fixtures and equipment and motor vehicle of approximately HK$369,000 (2012: 
HK$429,000) and HK$2,037,000 (2012: HK$1,381,000) includes an amount of approximately HK$24,000 (2012: 
HK$34,000) and HK$1,372,000 (2012: nil) in respect of assets held under finance lease respectively.

The Group has pledged land and buildings with a net carrying amount of approximately HK$13,237,000 (2012: 
HK$13,752,000) to secure general banking facilities (Note 32) granted to the Group.

The directors of the Company conducted review on the Group’s property, plant and equipment which were used in 
the manufacturing and sales of artificial flowers for both years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012. No impairment 
was recognised during the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: HK$4,036,000). Due to worse business environment 
during the year ended 31 December 2012, sale order of artificial flowers dropped significantly and the cash flow and 
profit could be generated from the usage of the assets decreased. The recoverable amounts of the relevant assets 
had been determined on the basis of their value-in-use and the discount rates in measuring the amounts of value-in-
use were 15.32% (2012: 15.32%).

The carrying amount of land comprises:

The Group
2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Leasehold land and buildings in Hong Kong
 Medium lease 13,237 13,752

Leasehold land and buildings in the PRC
 Medium lease 24,004 24,846

  

37,241 38,598
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21. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

The Group
2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Analysed for reporting purposes as:
 Current asset 473 473
 Non-current asset 13,003 13,475

  

13,476 13,948
  

The prepaid lease payments represent the leasehold land situated in the PRC and held under medium-term leases.

The amortisation charge of approximately HK$473,000 (2012: HK$473,000) for the year are included in administrative 
expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

22. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

 The Group
2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

List investments:
 — Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, at fair value 42,105 22,332

  

The available-for-sale financial assets are stated at fair value. The fair value of the listed securities has been 
determined by reference to published price quotations in active markets. Net gain on fair value changes of available-
for-sale financial assets of approximately HK$9,344,000 (2012: loss on approximately HK$313,000) has been 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group has determined the value of its investment in certain listed 
securities to be impaired in view of the fair value of the available-for-sale financial assets significantly below its 
original cost. As a result, an impairment loss of approximately HK$4,352,000 (2012: HK$1,500,000) has been 
recognised in profit or loss for the year.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group disposed of the right issues granted by the investee of its listed 
securities investment, and disposed of the entire right issues at a consideration of approximately HK$2,400,000, such 
amount was recognised as a gain on disposal and has been recorded in profit or loss for the year. Whereas during the 
year ended 31 December 2012, the Group disposed of certain listed securities at a consideration of approximately 
HK$18,960,000, with a carrying amount of approximately HK$5,712,000 prior to the disposal. A gain on disposal of 
approximately HK$13,248,000 had been recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2012.
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23. GOODWILL

The Group
HK$’000

Cost

At 1 January 2012, 31 December 2012, 1 January 2013 and 31 December 2013 8,582
 

Impairment

At 1 January 2012 –
Impairment loss recognised for the year 8,582

 

At 31 December 2012, 1 January 2013 and 31 December 2013 8,582
 

Carrying values

At 31 December 2013 –
 

At 31 December 2012 –
 

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising from the business combination in 2011 had been allocated to 
the Group’s cash-generating unit (“CGU”) comprising two subsidiaries in the manufacturing and sales of life-like plant 
operation segment and were fully impaired during the year ended 31 December 2012.

24. INVENTORIES

The Group
2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials 764 1,133
Work in progress 163 202
Finished goods 96 115

  

1,023 1,450
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25. LOAN RECEIVABLE

On 16 October 2013, a loan with principal amount of HK$10,000,000 was lent to a single borrower, which carried fixed 
interest rate of 7% per annum and was repayable in 6 months from the date of lending. The loan was secured by 
approximate 37,000,000 shares of a company listed in the Stock Exchange, with a total market value of HK$97,680,000 
as at 31 December 2013. The loan receivable would be matured within 12 months as at the end of reporting period 
and the loan receivable was neither past due nor impaired as at year ended date. Interest income generated from the 
loan was recognised as other revenue in the profit or loss. Details of the transaction were set out in the Company’s 
announcement dated 16 October 2013.

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group
2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 722 694
  

The Group allows a credit period normally ranging from 0 to 90 days to its trade customers. The following is an aged 
analysis of trade receivables presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period. The Group does 
not hold any collateral over these balances.

The Group
2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

1 to 30 days 709 681
31 to 90 days 8 6
91 to 180 days 5 7

  

722 694
  

The ageing analysis of trade receivables by due date that is past due but not impaired is as follow:

The Group
2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

1 to 30 days 5 7
31 to 90 days – –
91 to 180 days – –

  

5 7
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26. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related to one customer (2012: two customers) that has a good track 
record with the Group. Based on past experience, the management believes that no impairment allowance is 
necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances 
are still considered fully recoverable.

Receivables of approximately HK$717,000 (2012: HK$687,000) that were neither past due nor impaired relate to 
customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

The Group’s trade receivables that are denominated in currency other than the functional currency of the relevant 
Group entities are as follows:

The Group
2013 2012
’000 ’000

USD 54 86
  

27. OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS

The Group The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Other receivables 3 19 – –
Prepayments and deposits (Note i) 1,434 3,029 235 211
Loan interest receivable 148 – – –
Unsecured loan receivable (Note ii) – 1,000 – –

    

1,585 4,048 235 211
    

Notes:

(i) As at 31 December 2012, included in the prepayments and deposits was a refundable deposit of HK$1,000,000 paid for the acquisition of 40% 

equity interest in an entity incorporated in Hong Kong from an independent third party. The transaction had been cancelled with that 

independent third party and the above deposit was refunded during the year ended 31 December 2013.

(ii) As at 31 December 2012, the loan receivable granted to an independent third party was unsecured, bore interest at a fixed interest rate at 4% 

per annum and had been fully repaid during the year ended 31 December 2013.

Recoverability of other receivables, prepayments and deposits is assessed on individual basis. At the end of 2013 and 
2012, management assesses each of the outstanding balance of other receivables, prepayments and deposits to 
determine whether impairment loss has been adequately provided for, taking into account their credit position, 
repayment history and age of the amount owing to the Group.
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27. OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (continued)

The Group’s other receivables, prepayments and deposits that are denominated in currency other than the functional 
currency of the relevant Group entities are as follows:

The Group
2013 2012
’000 ’000

RMB 420 670
  

28. HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS

The Group
2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed investments:
 — Equity securities listed in Hong Kong 1,073 1,133

  

Held-for-trading investments are stated at fair value. The fair value of the listed securities has been determined by 
reference to published price quotations in active markets. Loss on fair value changes of held-for-trading investments 
of approximately HK$60,000 (2012: HK$187,000) has been recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31 
December 2013.

29. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2013, bank deposits of HK$136,000 (2012: HK$1,161,000), with fixed interest rate at 0.33% (2012: 
0.36%) per annum, were pledged to banks for the requirement of the PRC customs authorities respectively and were 
therefore classified as current assets.

Included in pledged bank deposits are the following amounts denominated in currency other than the functional 
currency of the relevant Group entities which are subject to foreign exchange control regulations or not freely 
transferable:

The Group
2013 2012
’000 ’000

RMB 106 934
  



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2013

87

Kong Sun Holdings Limited  •  Annual Report 2013

30. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances carry interest at prevailing market rates for both years.

Included in bank balances and cash are the following amounts denominated in currency other than the functional 
currency of the relevant Group entities, and RMB bank balances are subject to foreign exchange control regulations 
or not freely transferable:

The Group
2013 2012
’000 ’000

US$ 184 195
RMB 37,445 35,732

  

31. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES

The Group The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 148 58 – –
Other payables and accrued charges 12,835 13,286 6,053 6,790

    

12,983 13,344 6,053 6,790
    

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting 
period:

The Group
2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

1 to 30 days 148 58
  

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 30 to 90 days. The Group has financial risk management policies 
in place to ensure that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

The Group’s trade payables, other payables and accrued charges that are denominated in currencies other than the 
functional currency of the relevant Group entities are as follows:

The Group
2013 2012
’000 ’000

RMB 415 1,534
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32. BORROWINGS

At 31 December 2013, details of the borrowings carried at amortised cost and repayable within 5 years were as 
follows:

The Group
2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank loans 7,920 8,829
Other loan (Note (i)) 1,537 –

  

9,457 8,829
  

Secured (Note (ii)) 7,920 8,570
Unsecured (Note (iii)) 1,537 259

  

9,457 8,829
  

Carrying amount repayable (Note (iv)):
Within one year 4,203 2,908
More than one year, but not exceeding two years – –

  

4,203 2,908
Carrying amount of borrowings that are not repayable within one year
 from the end of the reporting period but contain a repayment on demand
 clause (shown under current liabilities) 5,254 5,921

  

9,457 8,829

Less: Amounts shown under current liabilities (9,457) (8,829)
  

Amounts shown under non-current liabilities – –
  

Notes:

(i) The amount is an interest-free loan of HK$1,537,000 borrowed from an independent third party.

(ii) Secured by a mortgage over the Group’s land and buildings (Note 20) and carried variable interest ranging from 1.375% to 2% (2012: 1.375% to 2%) 
per annum below prime rate or 2.5% (2012: 2.5%) per annum over 1 month Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate, whichever is lower. The weighted 
average effective interest rate on the bank borrowing is 2.47% (2012: 2.47%) per annum.

(iii) Unsecured bank borrowings of HK$259,000 were fully settled in 2013 and carried fixed interest ranging from 6.75% to 8.95% per annum. The 
weighted average effective interest rate on such borrowing is 8.18% per annum. Please refer to Note (i) above for the term of unsecured 
borrowing as at 31 December 2013.

(iv) The amounts due are based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. 
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32. BORROWINGS (continued)

The Group’s borrowings that are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant Group 
entities are as follows:

The Group
2013 2012
’000 ’000

RMB 1,200 –
  

33. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

The Group leased certain of its motor vehicles and office equipment under finance lease. The average lease term is 5 
years (2012: 3 years). Interest rates underlying all obligations under finance leases fixed at respective contract dates 
are 2.25% per annum as at 31 December 2013 (2012: 6.29% to 7.26% per annum). The weighted average effective 
interest rate on the obligations under finance leases is 2.25% per annum as at 31 December 2013 (2012: 6.59%). 
These leases had no terms of purchase options and escalation clauses. No arrangements have been entered into for 
contingent rental payments.

The Group

Minimum lease payment
Present value of minimum 

lease payments
2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts payable under finance lease:
Within one year 350 9 301 9
In more than one year but not more than
 two years 350 9 314 9
In more than two years but not more than
 five years 707 14 677 14

    

1,407 32 1,292 32
Less: future finance charges 115 – N/A N/A

    

Present value of lease obligations 1,292 32 1,292 32
  

Less: Amount due for settlement within
    12 months (shown under current
    liabilities) 301 9

  

Amount due for settlement after 12 months 991 23
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33. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES (continued)

The Group’s obligations under finance leases of motor vehicles and office equipment are secured by the lessors’ title 
to the leased assets.

Financial lease obligations are denominated in HK$, functional currency of the relevant Group entity.

34. DEFERRED TAx LIABILITIES

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the 
current and prior years:

Revaluation of 
prepaid lease 

payment

Accelerated
tax

depreciation Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 January 2012 5,986 3,098 9,084
Credit to profit or loss (217) (1,145) (1,362)

   

At 31 December 2013 and 1 January 2013 5,769 1,953 7,722
Credit to profit or loss (217) (39) (256)

   

At 31 December 2013 5,552 1,914 7,466
   

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately HK$119,420,000 (2012: 
HK$109,748,000) available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the 
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately 
HK$41,992,000 (2012: HK$36,941,000) that can be carried forward for 5 years from the year in which the respective 
loss arose. Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible temporary differences of approximately HK$1,018,000 
(2012: HK$1,642,000). No deferred tax assets have been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary 
difference as it is not probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference 
can be utilised.
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35. SHARE CAPITAL

The Group and the Company

Number of 
shares

Share
capital

‘000 HK$’000

Authorised

Ordinary shares of HK$0.20 each as at 1 January 2012 2,000,000 400,000
Capital reduction during the year (Note (a)) – (380,000)
Increase in authorised capital during the year (Note (c)) 18,000,000 180,000

  

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each as at 31 December 2012, 1 January 2013 and
 31 December 2013 20,000,000 200,000

  

Issued and fully paid

Ordinary shares of HK$0.20 each as at 1 January 2012 718,962 143,793
Capital reduction during the year (Note (b)) – (136,603)
Placing of new shares (Note (d)) 750,000 7,500

  

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each as at 31 December 2012 and
 1 January 2013 1,468,962 14,690
Placing of new shares (Note (e)) 293,700 2,937

  

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each as at 31 December 2013 1,762,662 17,627
  

Notes:

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at an extraordinary general meeting of the Company on 30 July 2012, the Company effected a capital 

reorganisation which involved:

(a) The par value of each authorised, issued and fully paid share was reduced from HK$0.20 to HK$0.01 by cancellation of HK$0.19 on each 

authorised, issued and fully paid share;

(b) The credit of approximately HK$136,603,000 arose as a result of the Capital Reduction was transferred to the share premium account of the 

Company;

(c) The authorised share capital of the Company was increased from HK$20,000,000 (divided into 2,000,000,000 shares) to HK$200,000,000 (divided 

into 20,000,000,000 shares) by the creation of an additional 18,000,000,000 ordinary shares of par value of HK$0.01 each which rank pari passu 

with the existing shares in all respects;

(d) Pursuant to a conditional placing agreement dated 13 June 2012 entered into between the Company and the placing agent, the placing agent 

agreed to place 750,000,000 new shares of HK$0.01 each at the price of HK$0.07 per placing share. All conditions of the placing agreement have 

been fulfilled and completion of the placing agreement took place on 12 October 2012.
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35. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes: (continued)

The proceed of HK$7,500,000 representing the par value, were credited to the Company’s share capital. The remaining proceeds of 

HK$45,000,000, were credited to the share premium account. The new shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all aspects. Details of 

the transaction were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 12 October 2013.

(e) Pursuant to a conditional placing agreement dated 6 September 2013 entered into between the Company and the placing agent, the placing 

agent agreed to place 293,700,000 new shares of HK$0.01 each at the price of HK$0.086 per placing share. All conditions of the placing 

agreement have been fulfilled and completion of the placing agreement took place on 3 October 2013.

The proceeds of HK$2,937,000 representing the par value, were credited to the Company’s share capital. The remaining proceeds of 

HK$22,321,000, were credited to the share premium account. The new shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all aspects. Details of 

the transaction were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 3 October 2013.

All the above shares rank pari passu in all aspects with other shares in issue.

36. RESERVES

The Company

Share 
premium

Capital 
redemption 

reserve

Share
options 
reserve

Warrants 
reserve

Accumulated 
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2012 126,958 20 3,000 1,771 (109,443) 22,306
Loss and total comprehensive 
 expense for the year – – – – (7,153) (7,153)
Capital reduction (Note 35(b)) 136,603 – – – – 136,603
Warrants lapsed during the year
 (Note 38) – – – (1,771) 1,771 –
Placing of new shares (Note 35(d)) 45,000 – – – – 45,000
Issuing expenses in relation
 to share placing (1,397) – – – – (1,397)

      

At 31 December 2012 and
 1 January 2013 307,164 20 3,000 – (114,825) 195,359
Loss and total comprehensive
 expense for the year – – – – (1,714) (1,714)
Placing of new shares
 (Note 35(e)) 22,321 – – – – 22,321
Issuing expenses in relation
 to share placing (781) – – – – (781)
Share option lapsed during
 the year (Note 37) – – (3,000) – 3,000 –

      

At 31 December 2013 328,704 20 – – (113,539) 215,185
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36. RESERVES (continued)

Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium and capital redemption reserve

The application of the share premium account and the capital redemption reserve is governed by sections 48B 
and 49H respectively of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The capital redemption reserve represents the amount by which the Company’s issued share capital is 
diminished on cancellation of the shares redeemed or purchased.

(ii) Share options reserve
Share options reserve represents the fair value of unexercised share options granted by the Company 
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy “Share-based Payment Transactions” as stated in Note 3.

(iii) Warrants reserve
Warrants reserve represents the fair value of warrants on the date of issue by the Company recognised in 
accordance with the accounting policy “Financial Instruments” as stated in Note 3.

37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”), was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 
22 July 2009 for the primary purpose of providing incentives to eligible persons, and will expire on 21 February 2013. 
Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include an employee or a Director of the Company or the Group’s 
holding companies or subsidiaries, adviser, consultant, agent, contractor, customer, supplier or any entity in which 
the Group or its holding companies or subsidiaries holds any equity interest who has contribution to the Group.

Details and the major terms of the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

(i) Purpose
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to the participants in 
recognition of their contribution to the Group.

(ii) Participants
The directors of the Company may offer to grant an option to any employee or director of the Company or the 
Group’s holding companies or subsidiaries, adviser, consultant, agent, contractor, customer, supplier or any 
entity in which the Group or its holding companies or subsidiaries holds any equity interest who has 
contribution to the Group.

(iii) Terms of options
The share options granted under the Share Option Scheme are subject to such terms and conditions as may be 
determined by the directors of the Company at their absolute discretion and specified in the offer of a share 
option, which terms and conditions may include (a) vesting conditions which must be satisfied before a share 
option holder’s share option shall become vested and capable of being exercised; and (b) the directors of the 
Company may, in its absolute discretion, specify performance conditions that must be achieved before a share 
option can be exercised and/or the minimum period for which a share option must be held before it can be 
exercised.
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37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(iv) Option price
The option price will be determined by the directors of the Company at their absolute discretion and notified to 
an option-holder. The minimum option price shall not be less than the highest of (a) the closing price of the 
shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer of an 
option; (b) the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily 
quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of offer of an option; and (c) the 
nominal value of the shares of the Company.

(v) Maximum number of shares
(1) 10% Limit

(a) The total numbers of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted must 
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the aggregate of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date 
of adoption of the Share Option Scheme. Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share 
Option Scheme and any other scheme will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the 10% 
limit in this paragraph.

(b) With the approval of the shareholders of the Company in general meeting, the directors of the 
Company may “refresh” the 10% limit under paragraph (a) (and may further refresh such limit in 
accordance with this paragraph) provided that the total number of shares of the Company which 
may be issued upon the exercise of all options to be granted under the limit as “refreshed” shall not 
exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date on which the shareholders approve the “refreshed” 
limit.

Options previously granted (including those outstanding, cancelled and lapsed in accordance with 
the terms of the relevant scheme, or exercised options) will not be counted for the purpose of 
calculating the limit as “refreshed”.

(c) Subject to the limits as stated in elsewhere, the directors of the Company may, with the approval of 
the shareholders, grant options in excess of the 10% limit to participants specifically identified 
before shareholders’ approval is sought. In such situation, the Company will send a circular to the 
shareholders of the Company containing a generic description of the specified participants who may 
be granted such options, the number and terms of such options to be granted and the purpose of 
granting such options to the specified participants with an explanation of how the terms of the 
options will serve the purpose.

(2) 30% Limit
The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet 
to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in 
issue from time to time. No options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme if this will result in 
the limit being exceeded.
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37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(vi) Maximum entitlement of each participant
Subject always to the limits as stated in elsewhere, the directors of the Company shall not grant any options to 
any participant which, if exercised, would result in such participant becoming entitled to subscribe for such 
number of shares as, when aggregated with the total number of shares already issued or to be issued to him 
under all options granted to him (including those options exercised or outstanding) in any 12-month period 
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at such date. The directors of the Company may grant options 
to any participant in excess of the individual limit of 1% in any 12-month period with the approval of the 
shareholders of the Company in general meeting with such participant and his associates abstaining from 
voting.

(vii) Time of exercise of options
An option under the Share Option Scheme which is vested and has not lapsed may be exercised at any time 
during such period notified by the directors of the Company as not exceeding 10 years from the date on which 
a participant is offered such option. The exercise of options may also be subject to any conditions imposed by 
the directors of the Company at the time of offer.

(viii) Period of the Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing on the date of 
adoption of the Share Option Scheme, after which period no further options will be granted. The directors of the 
Company may terminate the Share Option Scheme at any time and in such event no further options shall be 
granted under the Share Option Scheme but any options which have been granted but not yet exercised shall 
continue to be valid and exercisable.

At 31 December 2012, the number of shares in respect of which options had been granted and remained outstanding 
under the Share Option Scheme was 34,208,382, representing 2.33% of the shares of the Company in issue at that 
date. No consideration is payable on the grant of an option.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, all the options under the Share Option Scheme was lapsed.

Details of option are as follows:

Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price
Fair value at
grant date

22 February 2010 – 22 February 2010 to
 21 February 2013

HK$0.422 per share HK$0.10 per share
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37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The following table discloses movements of the Company’s share options held by an employee and consultants 
during the year:

Category Date of grant

Outstanding at
1 January 2013 and 
31 December 2013

Employee 22 February 2010 5,095,588
Consultants 22 February 2010 29,112,794

 

34,208,382
 

Lapsed at the end of the year 34,208,382
 

Weighted average exercise price HK$0.422
 

The estimated fair value of the options granted on the above-mentioned date was HK$3,000,000 and recognised in 
2010. The Group did not recognised any expense in relation to share options granted by the Company for the year 
ended 31 December 2013 (2012: nil).

The Black-Scholes option pricing model had been used to estimate the fair value of the options. The variables and 
assumptions used in computing the fair value of the share options are based on the directors’ best estimate. The 
value of an option varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions.

This fair value was calculated using the Black-Scholes pricing model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

Grant date 22 February 2010

Exercise price HK$0.422
Expected volatility 50.55%
Expected life 1.5 years
Risk-free rate 0.445%
Expected dividend yield 0%

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous 1.5 
years. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects 
of non transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioral considerations.
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38. WARRANTS

As set out in the Company’s announcement dated 13 December 2010, the Company has issued 95,860,000 warrants 
to the subscribers of the offer shares conferring the rights to the holders thereof to subscribe in cash for 95,860,000 
ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.01 per share at an initial exercise price of HK$0.28 per share at any time 
during the period from 13 December 2010 to 12 December 2012.

The warrants with subscription price of HK$0.02 per share are recognised in the warrants reserve on initial recognition 
with a fair value of approximately HK$1,917,000. The transaction cost directly attributable to the issue of the share 
warrants of approximately HK$146,000 was debited to the warrants reserve.

On 12 October 2012, the Company conducted a placing of its shares. As a result of completion of placing, the exercise 
price of warrants has been adjusted from HK$0.28 per share to HK$ 0.21 per share.

At 1 January 2012, the Company had outstanding 95,860,000 warrants, the exercise in full of which would result in the 
issue of 95,860,000 ordinary shares of HK $0.20 each. During the year ended 31 December 2012, no warrants were 
exercised or cancelled. The share warrants became expired on 12 December 2012 and the warrants reserve of 
HK$1,771,000 was transferred to accumulated losses during the year ended 31 December 2012.

39. LITIGATION

On 3 November 2003, an action was commenced by Mr. Cheung Yik Wang (“CYW”), who claims himself as an investor 
of Easternet Limited which owns 46% of Xswim (Holding) Limited (“Xswim Holding”) which is a 54% owned subsidiary 
of the Company, against Mr. Kong Li Szu as 1st defendant, the Company’s former director, and the Company as 2nd 
defendant for recovering a sum of HK$11,600,000 together with interest and costs in connection with a cheque issued 
on 20 December 2002 by the Company to CYW which was dishonoured upon presentation for payment. It was alleged 
that the cheque was issued by the Company as a guarantee for payment of a cheque issued by Mr. Kong. A defence 
was filed by the Company on 19 January 2004. CYW also filed a reply to defence on 17 February 2004. Subsequently, 
CYW took no further proceedings in the action, and up to the date of approval of these financial statements, such 
notice had not been filed by CYW nor served on the Company.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, in 2002, Xswim Holding, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Company, and its subsidiaries (“Xswim Group”) advanced to the Company an aggregate of approximately 
HK$15,241,000. In 2002, the Company repaid Xswim Group HK$5,600,000 leaving a balance of approximately 
HK$9,641,000 outstanding (the “Outstanding Balance”) and requested CYW to advance HK$2,000,000 (the “Intended 
Loan”) to the Company. As a result, the Company and Mr. Kong respectively issued on 20 December 2002 a cheque 
with an amount of HK$11,600,000 each payable to CYW as securities for the Outstanding Balance and the Intended 
Loan, although CYW has never advanced the Intended Loan to the Company. The Company repaid in full the 
Outstanding Balance to Xswim Group in 2003. Upon the full repayment of the Outstanding Balance in 2003, in the 
opinion of the directors of the Company, the Company no longer had legal or financial obligations to pay CYW and 
thus refused to present the cheque previously issued to CYW in 2003. As at 31 December 2013 and 2012, with the 
advices by the Company’s legal adviser, the directors of the Company were of the opinion that the Group has proper 
and valid defences to the CYW’s action and accordingly, no provision for loss had been accounted for in these 
financial statements.
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40. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the 
scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes 5% 
of relevant payroll costs to the scheme, which contribution is matched by employees but subject to a maximum 
amount of HK$1,250 (2012: HK$1,250) per month for each employee.

As stipulated by the rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group contributes to the retirement funds scheme managed 
by local social security bureau in the PRC. The Group contributes a certain percentage of the basic salaries of its 
employees to the retirement plan to fund the benefits.

The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit plan is to make the specified contributions. 
During the year ended 31 December 2013, the total retirement benefit cost charged to the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss amounted to approximately HK$465,000 (2012: HK$386,000).

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) The balances with the subsidiaries and the respective terms are disclosed in Note 18.

(b) Compensation of directors of the Company and key management personnel.

The remuneration of directors of the Company and other members of key management during the year was as 
follows:

The Group
2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Short-term benefits 2,511 2,681
Post-employment benefits 30 14

  

2,541 2,695
  

The remuneration of directors of the Company and key management is determined by the remuneration 
committee having regards to the performance of individuals and market trends.
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42. COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitment
Capital commitment outstanding as at 31 December 2013 and 2012 authorised or contracted but not provided 
for in the financial statements were as follows:

The Group
2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised and contracted for
 — acquisition of plant and equipment – 1,026

  

There was no capital commitment outstanding as at 31 December 2013 and 2012 not provided for in the 
Company’s financial statements.

(b) Lease commitment
The Group as lessee
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 626 616
In the second to fifth year inclusive 467 1,071

  

1,093 1,687
  

Operating lease payments as at 31 December 2013 represented rentals payable by the Group for certain of its 
office premises. Leases are negotiated for an average term of 3 years with fixed monthly rentals. The operating 
lease contracts contained market review clauses in the event that the Group exercises its option to renew. The 
Group did not have an option to purchase the leased asset at the expiry of the lease period.

The Company as lessee
The Company did not have any commitment for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases as at 31 December 2013 and 2012.
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42. COMMITMENTS (continued)

(b) Lease commitment (continued)
The Group as lessor
Property rental income earned during the year was approximately HK$1,246,000 (2012: HK$1,720,000). The 
properties are expected to generate rental yields of 1.30% (2012: 1.85%) on an ongoing basis. The properties 
held have committed tenants for the next year.

Motor vehicle rental income earned during the year was approximately HK$168,000 (2012: HK$138,000). The 
motor vehicle is expected to generate rental yields of 20.81% (2012: 20.81%) on an ongoing basis. The motor 
vehicle held has committed tenants for the next 2 years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with tenants for the following non-cancellable 
future minimum lease payments:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 2,044 489
In the second to fifth year inclusive 2,577 115

  

4,621 604
  

The Company as lessor
The Company did not contract with tenants for any non-cancellable future minimum lease payments as at 31 
December 2013 and 2012.
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43. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACT

The Company had issued a guarantee to a bank in respect of banking facilities of HK$9,200,000 to LSHK on 18 July 
2011. The banking facilities were renewed on 4 May 2012, the Company had issued another guarantee to bank in 
respect of renewed banking facilities of approximately HK$11,425,000 on the same day.

LSHK is an entity covered by a guarantee arrangement issued by the Company to a bank in respect of banking 
facilities granted to LSHK which remains in force so long as the subsidiary has drawn down under the banking 
facilities. Under the guarantee, the Company is a party to the guarantee for all borrowings of subsidiary from the bank 
which is the beneficiary of the guarantee.

As at 31 December 2013, the directors of the Company do not consider it probable that a claim will be made against 
the Company under any of the guarantee. The maximum liability of the Company at the end of the reporting period 
under the guarantee issued is the outstanding amount of the facility drawn down by LSHK of approximately 
HK$7,920,000 (2012: HK$8,570,000). Fair value of the financial guarantee as at 31 December 2013, amounted to 
approximately nil (inception date 4 May 2012: HK$777,000) was arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out by 
Grant Sherman, an independent qualified professional valuer not connected with the Group. During the year ended 31 
December 2013, an amortisation on financial guarantee of approximately nil (2012: HK$753,000) has been recognised 
in the Company’s profit or loss.

The carrying amount of the financial guarantee issued by the Company as at 31 December 2013 was approximately 
nil (2012: HK$259,000).

44. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

On 24 February 2012, the Group entered into the property sales agreements with certain joint vendors (the 
“Vendors”), pursuant to which the Group transferred the ownership of property (“Property I”) to the Vendors and the 
Vendors transferred the ownership of another property (“Property II”) to the Group. Upon completion, the Group 
became the owner of Property II and the Vendors became the owner of Property I. A gain of HK$1,698,000 from the 
sales of property was recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 
2012.

Details of transactions were set out in the Company’s announcements dated 24 February 2012 and 25 May 2012.
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A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as 
extracted from the audited financial statements and reclassified where appropriate, is set out below:

RESULTS

Year ended 31 December
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Restated) (Restated)

Turnover 9,229 8,560 72,844 84,262 90,705
     

Sale of life-like plants 7,983 6,840 69,171 82,006 88,268
Properties rental income 1,246 1,720 2,258 1,702 1,685
Dividend income from equity  
 investments – – 38 – –

     

9,229 8,560 71,467 83,708 89,953

LOSS BEFORE TAX (8,042) (12,253) (43,592) (25,330) (10,740)
     

Income tax credit 256 1,352 176 1,426 3,209
     

LOSS FOR THE YEAR (7,786) (10,901) (43,416) (23,904) (7,531)
     

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
 Owners of the Company (7,786) (10,901) (43,416) (23,904) (7,531)
 Non-controlling interests – – – – –

     

(7,786) (10,901) (43,416) (23,904) (7,531)
     

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

At 31 December
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Restated) (Restated)

TOTAL ASSETS 320,647 289,020 252,200 301,384 252,439
TOTAL LIABILITIES (31,198) (29,927) (34,518) (30,145) (53,472)

     

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS – – – – –
     

289,449 259,093 217,682 271,239 198,967
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